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COMMISSION OF INQUIRY INTO EXCESS LEAD FOUND IN DRINKING
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OFINQUIRY ORDINANCE (CHAPTER 86) ON 13 AUGUST 2015

Witness Statement of LAM TIN SING, ENOCH
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I, LAM Tin Sing, Enoch, the Director of Water Supplies

of 48“1Floor, Immigration Tower, 7 Gloucester Road, Wan

Chai, Hong Kong, do say as follows: -

A.

I am the Director of Water Supplies ("DWS") and have
held this position since 13 November 2013. The DWS
is the head of the Water Supplies Department ("WSD")
and the Water Authority ("WA") as defined under the
Waterworks Ordinance (Cap. 102) ("WWO").

I make this statement pursuant to the request of the
Commission of Inquiry into Excess Lead Found in
Drinking Water ("the Commission"), conveyed 1in a
letter from Messrs Lo & Lo to the Department of Justice
dated 12 October 2015 ("the 12 October Letter"). Save
where otherwise appears, the facts deposed hereto are
within my personal knowledge or are derived fromoffice
files and records and sources to which I have access,
and are true to the best of my knowledge, information
and belief. Save as otherwise specified, this
Statement adopts the same abbreviations and

nomenclature as in the 12 October Letter.

In the 12 October Letter, various questions are raised
to me by the Commission in relation to two main areas
viz. (1) the supply of drinking water (including
matters set out in the August Statement and (2) the
licensing of plumbers. As DWS, my knowledge,
expertise and attention are mainly focused on the
policy and management level of matters. My statement
covers Chapter 1 of the August Statement on the Water
Supply System in Hong Kong and Chapter 2 on the Duties
of the Water Authority under the WWO and WSD's work,
with elaborations and supplements where appropriate,
in compliance with para i.1 of the 12 October Letter.
My statement also covers, from the policy and
management angle, other matters in relation to the
supply of drinking water and the licensing of plumbers

- 11 -
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in Hong Kong.

D. As can be seen from Chapter 2 of the August Statement,
much of the work of WSD is technical and specialised
and each individual area pertains to technical and
specialised expertise of individual officers. Thus,
to best assist the Commission, I have requested WSD
officers with direct knowledge, experience and
expertise to make witness statements in respect of
these other matters aforesaid including the remaining
Chapters of the August Statement and matters in
compliance with paras. 1.2 to i.12 of the 12 October
Letter, and to stand ready to give evidence to fully

assist this Commission.

E. These witness statements, 1in conjunction with my
present statement, aim to comprehensively and
thoroughly respond to all matters raised in paragraph
i of the 12 October Letter.

F. I wish to emphasize that my overriding objective in
making this statement, and that of the WA and WSD as
a whole, is to assist the Commission in the conduct
of the Inquiry, and in particular to assist the
Commission in understanding the role and duties of the
WA under the present statutory regime in full and
proper context. WSD stands ready to fully cooperate
with the Commission and provide assistance to the
Commission to facilitate its inquiry. WSD will
carefully scrutinize the findings and recommendations
as may be made Dby the Commission and work in
consultation with the Development Bureau and
stakeholders concerned towards early implementation
of the recommendations as and when necessary and

appropriate.

G. My statement is divided into five parts. Part One is
related to Chapter 1 of the August Statement, to

provide an overview on the current water supply system

- 12 -
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in Hong Kong. Part Two is related to Chapter 2 of the
August Statement, to outline the duties of the WA under
the WWO and the work of WSD to support the WA to carry
out his duties. Part Three covers the first main area
raised in the 12 October Letter from a higher policy
angle, on the supply of drinking water including its
adequacy, reliability, affordability, smart
technology and quality aspects. Part Four covers the
second main area raised in the 12 October Letter
relating to the licensing of plumbers. Finally, Part
Five provides a summary of the WSD officers who will
make statements to assist the Commission. My present
statement is to be read alongside the said other

statements.

Part One - Chapter 1 of the August Statement: Water
Supply System in Hong Kong

H. Hong Kong has neither natural lakes nor large rivers
and has only limited ground water resources. To
secure adequate water resources in Hong Kong to sustain
its growing population and economic development, WSD
has over the years explored new water resources and
built up its waterworks infrastructure for provision
of water supply in a manner to keep pace with the

development of Hong Kong.

I. WSDcurrentlyacquires rawwater from two sources, viz.
(1) local vyield and (2) imported raw water from
Dongjiang at Guangdong, which respectively
contributes to meeting usually about 20 to 30% and 70
to 80% of the total fresh water demand today.

J. For local yield, since the first impounding reservoir
built at Pokfulam in 1863, there are at present a total
of 17 impounding reservoirs in operation with a total
storage capacity of 586 million cubic metres (mcm).
On the other hand, raw water from Dongjiang received
at Muk Wu near the border is transferred to storage

- 13 -
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and treatment facilities via extensive transfer
facilities involving water mains, water tunnels and
pumping stations. Raw water from impounding
reservoirs is also similarly transferred to water
treatment works for treatment. WSD has now 21 water

treatment works.

K. The treated water 1is then distributed through 171
service reservoirs and 6,200 km of fresh water mains
to the consumers (figures as at 31 Aug 2015). Please
refer to the map below for the location of the treatment
works and the major water supply routes. Over the
years, an extensive fresh water supply system covering
more than 99.9% of our population has been built.

L. The WSD installations from the collection of raw water
in Hong Kong to connection points at lot boundaries
of consumers, together with the gathering ground, are
generally referred to as waterworks. The supply
system (excluding those pipes and fittings for the
purpose of fire-fighting) from connection point at the
lot boundary up to the consumers' tap is generally
referred to as the inside service. Please refer to
the following diagram showing a schematic layout of
the waterworks and the inside service. According to
the WWO, the custody and control of the waterworks is
taken by the WA which means the DWS (section 3 of the
WWO) , whilst the custody and maintenance
responsibility of inside service rests with the agents
and consumers (section 7 of the WWO).

M. Although the current water supply situation appears
steady, WSD remains vigilant of the challenges ahead
including the climate change and the keen competition
amongst other regions and cities of the Guangdong
Province for the Dongjiang water supply. In 2008, WSD
promulgated a Total Water Management Strategy to
combat against these water resource challenges to
ensure water security. The essence of the strategy

- 14 -
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is to put emphasis on containing the growth of the water
demand through (i) promotion of water conservation by
education and publicity , by way of the implementation
of the Voluntary Water Efficiency Labelling Scheme,
installation of water efficient appliances, issue of
water conservation guidelines to trades of high water
consumption etc., (ii) expansion of the salt water
flushing system to reduce the use of fresh water for
flushing and (iii) water loss management through the
replacement and rehabilitation of aged water mains and
the establishment of a water intelligent network
("WIN") .

N. Alongside the management of demand, WSD 1s also
strengthening its water supply management by
developing alternative water resources, including
seawater desalination by reverse osmosis and water
reclamation, which are capable of withstanding

impacts from the climate change.

Part Two - Chapter 2 of August Statement: Duties of the

Water Authority under the Waterworks Ordinance

WA's duties

O. According to section 4(1) of the WWO, the duties of
the WA are:

(a) to supply water from the waterworks in accordance
with the WWO;

(b) to acquire and conserve water;

(c) to supervise and regulate consumption;

(d) to ensure the proper administration and management
of the waterworks, and to make due provision for
the security thereof;

(e) to require payment of any charge and take such steps
as may be necessary to enforce such payment; and

(f) generally to administer the provisions of the WWO.

- 15 -
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WSD's Work

P.

WSD supports the WA in carrying out his duties under
the provisions of the WWO. WSD has six Branches, each
headed by an Assistant Director. The organization of
WSD and major duties of each branch are outlined

below: -
Director of
Water Supplies
Deputy Director of
Water Supplies
| | ——— | 1
Development New Works Operations Mechanical Customer Finance
Branch Branch Branch & Electrical Services Branch
Branch Branch

Development Branch

One major duty of the Development Branch is to acquire
water including negotiation with the Guangdong
authorities for the importation of Dongjiang water.
Another duty of the branch is to formulate, review and
implement the Total Water Management Strategy
including developing schemes to increase new water
resources and promote water conservation. The branch
also devises measures to reduce water loss through
water leakages in water mains by the establishment of
the WIN. Last but not least, the branch via its Water
Science Division assures quality and safety of water
fromits source, through water treatment processes and
the distribution system up to the connection points

at the lot boundary of consumers.

(ii) New Works Branch

R.

The New Works Branch plans, designs and constructs new
waterworks and replaces and reprovisions the existing
aged water facilities such as water treatment works
and water mains. One notable example of the latter

- 16 -
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is the implementation of the territory-wide
Replacement and Rehabilitation of water mains
programme. The branchis alsoactively taking forward
the design and construction of the first desalination

plant using reverse osmosis technology in Hong Kong.

(1ii) Operations Branch

S.

(1iv)

T.

The Operations Branch operates and maintains
impounding reservoirs, water treatment works, service
reservoirs and water mains for the supply of water.
The branch protects water resources by keeping control
the development in gathering ground and adopts a
stringent policy to avoid the pollution of the water
source. The Dbranch also handles water mains
bursts/leaks and the subsequent repair works all over

the territory.

Mechanical and Electrical Branch

Regular inspection and maintenance works are carried
out by the Mechanical and Electrical Branch on all
electrical and mechanical plant and equipment in the
waterworks . The branchpilots the use of smart meters
to enable real-time monitoring of water consumption.
Coupled with the establishment of the WIN, this
supports the development of a water efficient smart
city in Hong Kong. The branch also makes continuous
effort to pursue high technology and energy efficient
devices such as the hydropower plant in the Tuen Mun
Water Treatment Works and a wave-powered cleaning
device installed at intake of seawater pumping

station.

Customer Services Branch

The Customer Services Branch 1is responsible for
handling applications for water supply for new and
revised plumbing systems in the inside service. The
WA has designated the branch head as the licensing
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authority ("LA"). Pursuant to Part 5 of Waterworks
Regulations (Cap.102A) ("WWR") , the LA handles

applications for issuance and renewal of plumbers'
licences and takes appropriate action in respect of
contravention of relevant provisions of the WWO. The
branch also handles provision of metered supplies and
customer enquiries and complaints regarding new
connections, disconnections of water supplies, water
quality and non-compliance incidents of inside
service leading to waste, misuse and pollution of water

supply.

(iv) Finance Branch

V. The Finance Branch of WSD is responsible for handling
2.8 million accounts, taking meter readings of these
accounts, collection and refund of water deposits,
taking debt recovery actions on unpaid water bills and
collection of various fees and charges with a view to
ensuring that the water revenues are timely and
accurately collected. The branch regularly reviews
the water tariff and various statutory fee items
stipulated in the WWR in accordance with the
Government-wide "user pays" principle which aims to

recover the full cost of providing services.

Part Three - Supply of drinking water adequacy,

reliability, affordability, smart technology and quality

W. WSD is dedicated to providing adequate, reliable,
affordable and quality drinking water to consumers

deploying smart technology.

Adequacy

X. It is agreat challenge to WSD in providing an adequate
water supply for Hong Kong because the territory has
neither natural lakes nor large rivers, limited ground

water resources and a high population density. The
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annual local yield has also fluctuated from the lowest
103 mcm to the highest 336 mcm in the past 20 years
against the annual total fresh water demand of 959 mcm
in 2014. Thus, about 70 to 80% of demand is met by
importing water from the Dongjiang at Guangdong. To
ensure water security against the global climate
change challenge and the keen competition for the
Dongjiang water, WSD has since 2008 promulgated a Total
Water Management Strategy. The strategy essentially
consists of two limbs viz. (1) containment of water
demand growth through promotion of water conservation,
expansion of salt water flushing system and water loss
management and (ii) development of new water resources
which are capable of withstanding impacts from the
climate change including seawater desalination and

water reclamation.
Reliability

Y. WSD has been tasked to provide a round-the-clock water
supply to its consumers throughout the year. In
addition to the effort to ensure water security as
mentioned above, a reliable water supply system
entails proper maintenance and operation of the
existing infrastructure including reservoirs, water
treatment works, water mains and pumping stations. It
also involves replacement and reprovisioning of the
aged infrastructure like water treatment works and
water mains 1in good time to enhance operational
efficiencies and design and construction of new
infrastructure to expand water supply capacity. Due
to operational constraints, there are sometimes water
supply interruptions arising from water main bursts.
Over the past 15 vyears, WSD has made dramatic
improvements in reducing the number of water main
bursts from about 2,500 incidents in 2000-01 to 169
incidents in 2014-15 through the implementation of a
programme of Replacement and Rehabilitation of 3,000

km of water mains.
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Affordability

Z.

Consumers m Hong Kong pay less for fresh water than
their counterparts in most major cities around the
world. Water charges have not been revised for 20
years and are maintained at a low level. During the
year 2014-15, about 14% of domestic accounts are not
required to pay water charges whilst 42% are paying
the water charge rate of $4.16 per unit against the
net unit production cost of $11. For the 2.6 million
domestic accounts, the average monthly water charge
in 2014-15 is $47. This amounts to about 0.3% of
average monthly household expenditure. WSD has from
time to time reviewed the water tariff with a view to
achieving full cost recovery whilst due consideration
will be given to the public affordability, the
prevailing economic situation, the financial
performance of the Waterworks Operating Accounts and

the views of the Legislative Council members

Smart technology

AA. WSD has strived to make use of the latest advanced

technology to ©provide water supply 1in a most
environmentally friendly and cost effective manner.
The application of smart technologies includes the
development of new water resources by seawater
desalination using reverse osmosis technology ; the
generation of renewable energy by hydropower plant in
the Tuen Mun Water Treatment Works to reduce
electricity consumption and carbon emission; the
deployment of biosensing technology to enable 24-hour
continuous water quality monitoring and the
establishment of an intelligent water supply network
including installation of sensors on water mains
network and smart meters to help detect water leakage

and foster good water conservation culture.

Quality
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Safe drinking water is essential to the protection of
public health. WSD has all along been taking the
production of quality water very seriously and
striving to undertake it in a most professional and

stringent manner.

Water quality in waterworks (from source to connection

point )

CC.

DD.

Under the existing statutory regime, neither WWO nor
WWR  specifies any standards or —requirements.
Notwithstanding that, WSD has pledged to supply water
through 1its waterworks 1in full compliance with
international guidelines, i.e. the World Health
Organisation's Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality
("WHO Guidelines") to 1its consumers up to the
connection points at the lot boundaries. This pledge
has been made practicable given WSD has a full control
over its waterworks as empowered under the WWO. 1In
contrast, as reflected in the WWO and WWR, consumers
and agents are responsible for the custody and
maintenance of the inside service and keeping the

inside service clean within the lot boundaries.

To fulfil the pledge (in respect of drinking water up
to the connection points), WSD has implemented a
well-established system with detailed guidelines and
requirements for the design, construction and
maintenance of the waterworks to supply water from
source through water treatment works to the
distribution system. Mr. Leung Wing-1lim, Assistant
Director/New Works will provide details of the system
on the design, construction and maintenance of the
waterworks 1in his statement. Moreover, WSD has
developed for implementation starting from 2007 water
safety plans ("WSPs") to assure the safety of water
from source, through water treatment to distribution
system. The implementation of the WSPs involves
protection of water quality at source, control of water
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treatment processes and prevention of contamination
during storage and distribution. In conjunction with
this, WSD has put in place a comprehensive water
quality regime for the monitoring and surveillance of
water quality from source through treatment works to
the distribution system. Details of the monitoring
and control of water quality at waterworks, and the
WSPs to develop the WSPs are set out in the 27d witness
statement of Mr. CHAN Kin-man, Chief Waterworks
Chemist.

The Commission may find it important to note that, to
date, the system in respect of water supply in and
through the waterworks has been proved reliable and
effective.

Water quality in inside service (after connection point,

to consumers' tap)

FF.

The water quality in the inside service including
consumers' taps depends on the proper construction,
installation, etc. of the inside service at the stage
of construction as well as regular maintenance and

cleaning of the inside service after construction.

At the stage of construction of inside service

GG.

On the question of what role the WA plays in relation
to water guality in inside service, it is important
to view the matter 1in its proper context, with
reference to the essential rationale behind WSD's
approach in monitoring and controlling the
construction, etc. of the inside service. WA aside,
the control regime involves many other stakeholders
including developers, Authorized Persons, building
contractors, plumbing subcontractors and licensed
plumbers. It entails the co-operation and
participation of all these stakeholders which
interact with different aspects of the system at
different stages. Details of the role and
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responsibility of the key stakeholders are set out in
the witness statement of Mr. LEUNG Wing Lim, Assistant
Director/New Works.

As far as the role of the WA is concerned, it
essentially carries out a regulatory role via a number
of measures to monitor and control the construction,
etc. of the inside service. These measures include
(a)licensing of plumbers and requirements for
engagement of licensed plumbers to carry out work on
the inside service; (b) requiring that pipes and
fittings are of the British Standard ; (c) (for new
building projects) confirmation by the Authorized
Persons that pipes and fittings used and installed are
in compliance with the waterworks standards and
requirements; (d) inspection and approval of the
inside service by the WA and (e) water samples tested
tobe in compliance with specified standards. Details
of these measures are provided in the witness statement
of Mr. LAM Ching Man, Assistant Director / Customer
Services. The above measures applies to all the
inside service in Hong Kong, not just public housing
estates and the 11 Affected Estates.

In regard specifically to the inside service of the
Affected Estates, details of the construction and use
of Plumbing Materials in the inside service, the
inspection and approval of the plumbing works and the
taking and testing of water samples at the connection
points for the purpose of effecting the water supply
(and a guideline in relation to testing of water
samples in the inside service within a building for
the purpose of checking the effectiveness of cleansing
and disinfection of the inside service) will be set
out in the respective witness statement of Mr. CHAN
Hing, Assistant Secretary (Lantau), Mr. CHEUNG Yip Kui,
Senior Engineer/Customer Services (Technical

Support)2, Mr. LAM Ching Man, Assistant Director /
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Customer Services, and Mr. CHAN Kin-man, Chief

Waterworks Chemist.

After construction -regular maintenance and cleaning of

inside service

JJ.

Proper maintenance and cleaning of inside service is

essential to maintaining water gquality in the inside
service. Whilst maintenance and cleaning of the
inside service is the responsibility of agents and
consumers, WA has adopted a multi-pronged approach to
regulate and encourage parties concerned to duly
discharge their responsibilities. These involve
measures including proactive attendance to public
complaints on water quality at inside service,

monitoring of water quality at consumers taps, and
promotion of the proper maintenance and cleaning of
inside service through the launching of the Quality
Water Supply Scheme for Buildings. As at October 2015,
45% of the total residential households in Hong Kong
are covered by the Scheme. Details of these measures
are provided in the respective witness statement of
Mr. CHAN Kin-man, Chief Waterworks Chemist (in respect
of the monitoring of water quality at consumers taps)

and Mr. LAM Ching Man, Assistant Director/Customer
Services (in respect of the maintenance of the inside
service, complaint handling and promotion of proper
maintenance and cleaning of the inside service through

the Quality Water Supply Scheme for Buildings).

After discovery of the excess lead in drinking water

incident

KK.

In the wake of the excess lead in drinking water
incident 1in the 11 Affected Estates, WSD has
proactively taken actions in various fronts to address
concerns of residents of the Affected Estates as well
as the public and implemented a number of enhancement
measures on top of the existing overall control regime
and additional to the statutory requirements
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stipulated 1in the WWO, which governs the WSD's
essential role within the overall regime.

Firstly, since the occurrence of the excess lead in
drinking water incident in Kai Ching Estate in July
2015, WSD has been making due diligence to assist the
Housing Department 1in taking water samples and
carrying out the water sampling tests in all other
public rental housing ("PRH") estates. As on 30
October 2015, about 6,000 water samples have been taken
and tested . In the event of discovery of excess lead
in drinking water in an estate, WSD has mobilised
resources for the urgent supply of clean fresh water
through standpipes to residents of all affected
residents at each block of the estates. WSD has also
taken part in the subsequent joint departmental press
conferences and subsequent residents' meetings
arranged for each Affected Estate to explain the water
sampling test results and follow up on water supply

arrangements to the affected residents.

Secondly, in order to investigate into the cause of
the excess lead in drinking water at PRH estates, a
Task Force headed by WSD was established on 15 July.
The Task Force completed the investigation and
submitted a final report with findings and
recommendations to the Secretary for the Development
on 31 October 2015. WSD will duly follow up on the
recommendations made by the Task Force.

Thirdly, WSD has worked in collaboration with other
government departments for the publication of
education pamphlets to provide advice to the public
on the precautionary measures in response to the excess

lead in water incident.
Fourthly, WSD has set up an inter-departmental Review

Group to review the existing system on inspection and
approval of the inside service and the licensing of
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plumbers. Since the occurrence of the excess lead in
water incident, a number of enhancement measures on
top of the existing regime have been devised and
implemented via the issue of a number of WSD Circular
Letters to the licensed plumbers and the Authorised
Persons including the stipulation of requirements for
carrying out tests on solder pipe joints and testing
of water samples for lead at final inspection of newly
installed fresh water inside service. Details of
these enhancement measures are provided in the witness
statement of Mr. CHEUNG Yip Kui, Senior Engineer /
Customer Services (Technical Support) 2.

Part Four - Licensing of plumbers

PP. The WA has designated the Assistant Director/Customer
Services of WSD as the LA to issue and renew plumber's
licenses 1in accordance with the qualifications,
requirements and criteria stipulated in the existing
legislation. The WA has also appointed an advisory
board currently consisting of members from outside
professionals, plumbing trade, property management
etc. to advise the LA on the licensing of plumbers.
Details of the work of the LA and the gqualifications,
etc. for granting a plumber's licence are provided in
the witness statement of Mr. CHAN Hing. There are at
present about 2,950 licensed plumbers , among which
about 1,300 are active. On the ground, it has been
a long established practice of the trade that licensed
plumbers engage plumbing workers to assist them in
carrying out plumbing works undertaken by them. As
on 31 October 2015, there are about 8,330 workers
registered in the plumber trade under the Construction
Workers Registration Ordinance, Cap 583, whilst the
plumber trade is included in the latest list of trades
experiencing manpower shortage compiled by the
Construction Industry Council. Details of the
construction of the inside service in the Affected
Estates by the licensed plumbers are provided in the
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witness statement of Mr. LAM Ching Man, Assistant

Director/Customer Services.

Part Five -Other statements of WSD officers

QQ. A summary of the officers of WSD with direct knowledge
I expertise authorized by me tomake witness statements
to assist the Commission is provided as follows:

Witness Areas

A. Mr LEUNG Wing Lim @ The stakeholder theory
Assistant Director/
New Works e The design, construction

and maintenance of the

waterworks (answering in

part paras i.2 and i.3)

B. Mr CHAN Kin Man, e Overview of monitoring and
Chief Waterworks control of water quality

at waterworks including

Chemist
the development of the

Water Safety Plan (Ch 3 of

Aug Statement in para.i.l)

(2nd Statement)

® Water sampling and testing
by WSD 1in respect of

inside service including

monitoring of water
quality at consumer taps
(from perspective of WHO
guidelines /chemical

aspects) (para 1.8)

® Rationales for testing
eight parameters for newly
constructed inside

service (para. i.7 (c) and

(d)) and testing seven
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parameter s for Quality
Water Supply Scheme for
Buildings (para. 1.8).

(Part of the above areas also
incidentally cover paras. i.2
and i.3 of the 12 October
Letter)

C. Mr LAM Ching Man
Assistant
Director/Customer

Services

® Monitoring and control of

construction, etc. and
maintenance of inside
service; complaint

handling and promotion of
Quality Water Supply
Scheme for Buildings for
the safety and quality of
drinking water at inside
service (Ch 4 of Aug

Statement in para.i.l)

® Water treatment plant
through which water is
supplied to each Affected
Estate (para i.5)

®¢ Approach to taking and
testing of water samples

frominside service before

connection of water supply
to Affected Estates(para
i.7 (a)and (b))

®¢ TInspection and testing of
water samples 1in inside
service (from perspective
of Quality Water Supply
Scheme for Buildings)

(para.i.8)

e Construction of inside

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited
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service in Affected Estates
by licensed plumbers (para

i.12))
D. Mr CHAN Hing, ® Regulations, etc. pertaining
Assistant Secretary to construction of the
(Lantau) Affected Estates and

Prohibiting the wuse of
Plumbing Materials from
which lead may leach into

water (para.i.d)

® Work of Licensing Authority
and qualifications etc. for
granting a plumber’s
licence (para. 1.10 and

i.11)

E. Mr CHEUNG Yip Kui, |e Existence of lead in Plumbing
Senior Materials; Use of Deviated
Engineer/Customer Plumbing Materials; and
Services Inspection and approval in
(Technical Support) 2, respect of the Affected
WSD Estate (para i.6)

® Steps and measures by WSD
after discovery of excess

lead incidents (para 1i.9)

RR. I confirm the contents of this Witness Statement to
be true to the best of my knowledge, information and
belief.

Dated this 6tP day of October 2015.

[ 0 B DB SR R B RS A LBt - i &l H(E % 4 0 (&
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“Through the above channels ... internet research
conducted as and when necessary, WSD maintains its
alertness to significant internationally resonant

water quality issues.”
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R — DY 587 ] DR BRI - T (A ik (2 AF BBk 1% T IR o B B /K & B R ] RE
B e I 575 RETER o O B0 oA 7 O 25 B — [ S B TR - i 144 H -
144 > g B - WE(ETEE Rt A AT ol A E] e A e H o —
[ B R ZKIERE A =] > BRAA] Worthingway ° %t Worthingway
B H P EEE R E DR R > (ESE basically HRTH
solders  “produce lead-free solder for use on the water
system in the house, ... they supply leader solder for
use on heating systems. One of our operatives used

the wrong solder on the water side.”

IF W FEE AT (A o tH e s > BIGR AR SR — Y A Sn bR Rt & 2 &
FERK ARG -

M4 SRR B — B 145 H > 145 H - Ik _WHE - A5 E
“Reporter”WH{fE » Fi{AIHE5EE > {(EE5"But given the results of
our own random survey, and that of Greater Glasgow
Health Board it’s clear that that Worthingway were by
no means alone in illegally using leaded solder. And
when you think that 19,000 new homes are built in
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Scotland each year the scale of the problem could be

enormous.”

MHER{EVEEFEEEM) > “I think it’s probably much more
widespread. We don’t have any reason to suggest that
it’s simply a Glasgow problem. But here we have
evidence that many different plumbing contractors, and
many different builders are involved with this
problem.

And we know that these plumbing contractors and
builders work across the country. So there’s no
reason to think that only when the work in Glasgow are

they more likely to use leaded solder.”

MfPREBE A% N > {H reporter JR#EIZLM) > “Like the
Plumbers Federation” » lHE b —(# 55 & 55 > “wants leaded
solder to be banned so the financial temptations of
using it are taken out of the equation. Germany and

Holland banned it more than twenty years ago.

The UK Government committed itself to a ban back

in 1992, but as yet hasn’t done so. The Scottish
Executive promised a nation-wide survey after” Hmft

—{# scandal » “It still hasn’t happened.”

IR W FEE A9 D0~ 1 5 L e 4 L S MR gl (% 5 o (8] 25 S B AR R S5 Y e /K
O {18 {3 fee o i e 2 B o [ S R AT S L R (A R T AE (A T
1T — {18 5 P 2 e e Vs Ay I A R e o,

WL (% 2002 £ - Rk BBC - MHA —{EMHEELFIR > 7 HEE
(I F R o O R ] — R AR AR > (R R gl BT B B i % — - e 8 i /K 28
P88 2 Z A > AR (RIBR B IE K148 A3 e — {18 175 0 RO - R0 2

DIEA > TEHIE

SR A S — B 7 — {18 5 (A L % — — o g o D A R S AR - I RE

BT - BABIRES — R [F WIS A > 235 H - 235 Hkahd an e
BAEFEE > st --F— > F K MEE%RIEM “1lead solder
misuse in new house construction is a common problem
[through] Scotland. The Scottish New Homes Lead
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Survey” Ff identify IEJL+ JUL{E houses “from a random
samples of 661 homes completed [before] 1997 ... 2000
with excess lead levels in the water supply consistent
with the use of lead solder on the copper plumbing

system.”

R T IR A (B [ A g R e o B (R EETE(E lead
solder B} use & —{1 2% Rl {4 &% 22 16k fis] L AR 1R,

IR PR {2 G W o — s 2 3 6 X » Jgft 79 7 L W wiH O W {1 ] RE 0 “ Thiis
is of importance given that the rationale for adopting
this WHO derived lower guideline value is specifically
to prevent children from being exposed to levels of
lead sufficient to cause biocaccumulation in soft
tissues such as the brain and storage in other sites
such as bonds and teeth. This survey therefore
provides justification for the need to consider how
best to advise occupants of new houses on the safe use

of tap water for human consumption.”

I R 7% 11T (5 FF 5 0 W (5 i 2 B0 (% 25 Y MR, 4 it 1R 2] e s o {1
“existing ban on lead solder is enforced ... provides
evidence of the need to examine other options in order
to prevent the [use] of lead solder on a permanent

basis.”

BRI {5 B 7k 228 77 B2 M 48 S R I I DER ) R e - R {1 k4 i F B (R AR A%
Tl W0 18] =5 2 AR e 2 1% > UM R R A o Ok P A TR [ - - — WY DR
S () A ] o R

08 B £ (08—~ BEL (08— (B 55 30 22 4+ ok o — BB 50 L
O+ 75t (52 20 1325 5 T RO - A0S FROE T AL 08 159 o -
wE L -

BE P B — 6 AL W8 256 S 256 MARE HE--BF T 0> AL BE--FE
5 259 > BEHFEIE o 259 M L 58 H e T W (5] 0K 59 e (18] fok 4% 3 0
B > HIE{E{% Stage 1 W results BRI o 0 55 4ME 5L 50 » 0%
259 fx{%—F% > “On the basis of the Stage 1 results,” B
W (& 75 BP9 “initiated a publicity campaign designed

to alert consumers to the risks of lead in drinking
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water. Changes were ... made to the Water Bylaws, to
increase the penalty for contravening the ban on the
use of lead, including leaded solder, on domestic water

plumbing systems.”

ITEF OfEs 8 B s ] 5 A 6 50 2 4% > D (5 S0 V25 (01 A A I B A -
{005 1 T PS5 DR A U T 400 {4 s S22 3 0 ol {180 058K - SR 20 R AR B
iR Ve R > PR W MY B o DR A L ol 78 & Ak & (AR IR T
UEE o M g JEE e A I o

I iz ?fi &l > PRATOR IS — 86 - (4 el {15 F B 0 Ffr o B R ST R - BT
%Al 55 195 H » AL > 195 H » 178 o UG Bl (% 2 iR 40 5 75 (el [
’f%éé*éﬁﬂlﬂéﬁ’nﬁ%iﬂﬁb@%ﬂﬂtﬁ%T 195 H—BHBAMEE - LA (E “incident
highlights that some property developers of new houses
continue to use lead solder in the plumbing of drinking
pipes, despite its use for this purpose being illegal.
Lead solder is easily available, being sold in most
DIY stores, and its use 1is not illegal for central
heating pipes. It is also less expensive than the
legal alternative by” %% ({f per cent “per roll”NH%s -
“Water pipes are not fully covered in the building

”

regulations

M 1% - WIS P MBS 55 — Bt - BhBl{AFe - -[EE 5 =l E G E
HMEE > “Following the work done by the Scottish Centre
for Infection and Environmental Health in 2003,” H]
BB A BE 2= E ([ stage 2 BEFH A > “the issue of [the] use
of lead solder in the plumbing of new homes was
highlighted as an important public health issue
New housing developments are popular with families
with young children” Z% - JREMEZEES highlight EEHA
“high lead water levels owing to this cause represents
an avoidable and unacceptably high source of lead for
vulnerable people such as young children and pregnant
women. There needs to be consideration by local
authorities as to their inspection and monitoring
strategies for lead, not only 1in new housing
development but in schools, childcare centres and
other children settings. This is a priority of the
Children’s Environment and Health Action Plan
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This is particularly important in anticipation of the
revised drinking water quality standard for lead that

will come into force in 2013.”

I PG JEE 05 7 L Ve B (R S M ER e - W TR - R R Rl E
AR

WEE {4 " This incident did not come to light as a
result of routine monitoring but as a result of the
investigation of an unrelated complaint by a resident.
Following this complaint and opportunistic testing,
the extent of the problem was greater than first
anticipated. As a direct result of this incident,”
EEE  [H/KEEF > “has now included” » included “in
its routine inspections of newly built properties” —
@™ lead check’ ”BE » —(f“swab test for the detection of
lead solder on the drinking water plumbing and services
and continues to carry out random lead sampling on new

developments.”

M conclusion #{AeEE LG EEARIE(E lead M- -HLEVE(E
lead solder BEE > ¥iE4%({4 identify B —{EEHZE® health
hazard BEEE » (432 HHEEE > B3 risk assessment » JJ[]
58fl risk communication - MfEMRIMAZESEFTELWIEE - e
F& T L e e iy A R R A E AR A —(E MU *1ead check’

B swab test e

WE AR TARAE > WRUE(E S KB 4E 2 /T > A7 IS —u
B{&I A E8EE Y1ead check’ {i swab test WEEEMF ? Hl{4. ..

DA AT

PATEEM 7
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PARAAATERAE o (R o TR R ( BI(5 Fh 0t T 5 0 ok A ol () 8L R SO

> 5% A W [ ] RELA -

rIRE SRR (8?2 ) JeEmEOf > 18928 Bz-- 18928 H » 55 31
B o b E Bl 25 i P TRk e I 18] T e SR Bl (A IR it /K B PR B R T o
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Pt {E% 31 EREE{&IHEESE " To the understanding of WSD,
these 2 incidents at Scotland and Wales were regarded
as local news only, without leading to ... major
reporting in leading international magazines” [&
“journals published by international water
associations and professional institutions;

widespread attention of leading international
organizations, 1including the WHO, one of whose
essential functions 1s global co-ordination and
communication in respect of significant health

”

issues;

M FE R Ot 4% 48 5% 55 “Scottish event could not be
located in any headline or feature stories in

44

international journals” [E#K: “magazines

HMmUE{E Welsh Mi{H event > 33 E¥ > HfEi“could not be
located in any headline or feature stories in relevant

leading magazines / journals subscribed by WSD.”
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“WSD understands that the said journal covers a range
of issues in the field of public and environmental
health, such as occupational health and safety,
environmental protection, health promotion, housing
and health, public health ..., environmental health
education, ..., environmental health management and
policy, environmental health law and practice,
sustainability and methodological issues arising from
the design and conduct of studies etc. Given the
considerable difference in focus of this journal and
WSD’s duties, WSD has not subscribed to the concerned

journal.”
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IR IR WL T~ c12 - 1893 H o

E ke

] - AR IRWEES N5 43 BRSR 1 A el o Mf{ESEL “Paper No.7 was
prepared with focus of concern on the proper
maintenance and cleansing of the plumbing system of
existing buildings...

FRE  FE ML > Mr Khaw o RIGE] -

Fr(gEnmieA o o B EEL - c21 0 18932 -

CIEEZ - WEFESEFIUE » BE 43 EXWE » 28 1 AJ4¢0f] » “"Against the above
background, Paper No.7 was prepared with focus of

concern on the proper maintenance and cleansing of the
plumbing system of existing buildings.” #1535 Ek—
k56 44 BRlE—Wh - 44 ERUERRH ML - BEEEA —(E (R =B R AR
RE > 22 HEE—1{ leaflet > “Lead in Your Drinking Water
issued 1in 1993 was referred by counsel for the
Commission during the hearing on”+—H 5% ¢ According
to /KBEBLERIE - ME({# leaflet fE>“was within the research
materials leading to the preparation of Paper No.7”
MR o 45RO F T W — {7 55 B BR O 2 ol {1 5 R R ORIUE - A1/399
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HE|“Sources of Lead in Drinking Water”UfE g 9
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likely to be highest if:”ZFWRIE[EWEFHCM - i H b g Gl s
Iff “your home has copper pipes with solder” » MHER{E X
K TR E T o U ZRA% S W B B (A — (E R 0 “why is
lead a problem”Wfl - M [E H (%% 5 M9 A NEE 52 28 LL i i i i o
g o M4 » 2 400 EM » FA - “lead in your home's water
is most likely pipe”Z{F “solder in your home's own
plumbing. The most common cause 1s corrosion, a
reaction between the water and the lead pipes or
solder. "M pR{EHR&UE - HWilE T~ 401 H » 55 2 Wil --BI{A&THTH -
2 YHELBE46) - (EELES 1986 & 6 A{JUE » President Reagan
WE » EHGEE S —(f Safe Drinking Water Act B} amendments °
“"These amendments require the use of "lead-free" pipe,
solder, and flux in the installation or repair of any
public water system” [6 # ™
residential”E®& “non-residential facility”Wf - “Under

any plumbing in a

the provisions of these amendmendts, solders and flux
will be considered “lead-free”” » YIHE/EW contain %6%%
{#l per cent DL » “Pipes and fittings will be considered
“lead-free””% % - “These requirements went into effect
in June 1986. The law gave state governments until June
1988 to implement and enforce these new limitations.
Although the states have banned all use of lead
materials in drinking water systems, such bans do not
eliminate lead contamination within existing plumbing.
Also, in enforcing the ban, some states have continued
to find illegally used lead solder in new plumbing
installations.”#fmf » FRIH 5O ERVE (75 SCARTE » UE {7 SCAFUEFE —
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AR IERBEL R C21 18932 43 B> #i(AREE(E paper No. 7 WHE
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J& > A ER IR G JEE B A - -5 — A FRIE IR EE L - 5 =1T7Fd %R > “Based on
the literature research at that time, lead pipes and
leaded-solder copper pipes were widely used in the UK
and USA during their development stages and
consequently the most common problem was the presence
of lead in water at the material time. 1In contrast,
the use of leaded pipes was banned in Hong Kong since
as early as 1938, followed by the ban of leaded solder
in 1987. Further, before the ban of unlined GI pipes
in December 1995, unlined GI pipes were commonly used
in Hong Kong for fresh water inside service in the then
existing buildings.” > REREE HLEGREHREHE  KEFEE
HEEFR

“Given the different historical backgrounds, the
risk of presence of lead in water in the UK and USA
had no direct application to Hong Kong.” - UgE{&IH %
B EEEA K KRR A MIE[EEEE ST 5 > Tl the risk of
presence of lead in water” I H fif #r 75 5t “no direct
application to Hong Kong.” °
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consumers” i {RIUM Waterworks It AU /K 2448 “supply
system” » “from connection point to”Hf{E consumer tap
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R 1% T M T R — a0 A B0 o o ik E [ A EEL A s E
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s MER%{% 10589 MHH -
10...
B4 T 589 ¢
10589 M4 3/3/2 » FREFMHEY » sREFET B » “Unless there is

strong evidence that particular chemicals are
currently found or will be found in the near future,
at levels that may compromise the health of a
significant proportion of the population, the
inclusion of those chemicals in drinking-water
monitoring programmes is not justified, particularly
where resources are limited. It is often more
effective to maintain an ongoing programme of
pollution control and risk assessment in the

catchment.”

FANERA - - R T AR 2 o UE (R E A IR 2 AR R —
chemical contamination B} risk > HFEEZF 1A H material
control ME o 10639 MaE]—{E (4> 8/1 BFFfr —MHEY » 8 —AJ It is
important that water supply agencies properly manage
any chemicals that they use. In many cases, the best
method of control is through management practices,
such as optimisation of the treatment process, and
regulation of materials and chemicals that come into
contact with drinking water, rather than through

monitoring and chemical analysis.”

WE A& 47 (DL E AR 4T BE AR IEE > HOREF 2 UE{E > UE(E{AREE M water
treatment BERE(E AT chemicals g » {ABEIF ?

f If water treatment @ JNEN(A5E —{# regulation of
materials Mf o
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characteristics being examined. Sampling at the
treatment plant or at the head of the distribution
system may be sufficient for constituents whose
concentrations do not change during delivery.
However, for those constituents whose concentrations
can change during distribution, sampling should be
undertaken following consideration of the behaviour
or source of the specific substance. Samples should
include points near the extremities of the
distribution system and taps connected directly to the
mains in houses and large multi-occupancy buildings.
Lead, for example, should be sampled at consumers’ taps,
as the source of lead is usually service connections

or plumbing in buildings.”
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[ BT R Ot ret BE Y, chemical » HPERAHHE lead
SR R A (1B - F AN I N I i e B
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E AT - A PR o A (At A SR S R 8 e R T vk /K e {1 L B A e S DR
R it > B 6 G 35 5 A MR IR % 7 (A i B {1 /K 308 o 2 22 01 5
— (&g E —(E 28 - MR EELIRERFE > A AR -
Fit AR TT T 2 -

AN R AT DU 2 > H B 400 SR [ T 1y o] {180 A5 o e (L — (e DB & 2 Py
5 R 7K HE BA MR A 0 00 B T B o - 11T P77 — Bl SR DS S o ([ Meg SR
R 24 25 55 0 B SR AB WO IR AR 5 7T B Bt ek > 3ol U =] DA 350 (8] [
b (] 582 55 V(% B 2 R R — X 2l 7K g B 4 {1 /RO — i B B b -

- 90 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BKEHEEHAEZR R

[

g

20162 H1H

WAL EMRERET — TR UE—{# connection points Wg—{F& I MEE
HE S {181 27 72 8 H Y+ 00 SR Ot B — BB /R DR [ 8 vk T S o 2 Pl B IER
3 > M C19.513486 > 13486 45 41 EY > & 41 BMERHETE /(HS
WEL > R A —A R EE B EEE > FIERE] “The
purpose of the testing of water” > BRIEESE] - R4 2 hfE. ..

P EEE

: “The purpose of the testing of water samples near the

connection point at this Jjuncture was not for
identifying the presence of non-compliant materials
in inside service as an end product test but more to
guard against contamination to the government water

supply by the inside service.”

IREFREESE TEME A » “Taking indirect water supply
system as an example, the water sample near the
connection point can only check the water guality for
the pipe between sump tank and the connection point
but not the entire inside service system (i.e. the
communal service and inside service after and

including the sump tank).”

IR EE N UEEE - 13487 WATERE - 13487 UffiiE & Fut m7 LA
BE 2 “sump tank” M & > BE R0 2 T [ {E Y 5 HE{E > “sump
tank” » PRA o B EI R 2
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EIHEE connection points {fl test > (B A 2] {E & [E ol (& i 7K o]
& 75 2 wran & > IR EE e 41 & > #ifAH{#E sump tank
LA FIE connection point We—#K » 4/ DIEFENS - {RBREF ?

DR ETIGE R PR ?
DR e AR B E B RIS R I O > BEfRES /R connection point M

{fl sampling W& K - EREERE (2 > Bl check BERLAEE R sump
tank %] connection point Wg—E% » [E =i ?
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(W] > 13792 > 55 27 Bz > okay ° [AART AL - B {AF2 21 We I k5 A ek
It > IEEEN:E > “the main purpose of the water testing
for samples collected near the connection points is
to prevent contamination of the government water
supply through backflow at the connection point whilst
that of the water testing at the inside service within
a building is to check the effectiveness of the

cleansing and disinfection of the inside service.”
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NEfE & s waterworks B} » §t“with reference to the latest
(4th) edition of Guidelines published in 2011.” » H
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Bf = —BEMEE > FEEE (I V" those key chemicals responsible
for large-scale health effects through drinking-water
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FE--ATEBYE ERWE > F-ETHAHEE plumbing
materials ®f > “Plumbing materials, pipes, fittings and
coatings can result inelevated heavymetal (e.g. lead)
concentrations in drinking-water, and inappropriate
materials can be conducive to bacterial growth.” » g

JEE TR AR i L e 0 HL 2 B A T e

e —REIAERIE — B i Bl B 1349 H - 1349 HE—EFE >
Table 8.16 FF=IFHIEHRF| " Contaminants from pipes and
fittings” ? BMRNES IS IEEE - £ah B K EE R RS 3490 > A
HECEEVE R — ~ =~ =~ 0~ 7> AN > FIBE(GEET 8 > S
W > A EL RS S EE o R EI R 7

DHRE

L7 B 5 P e — (8] T R e AR AR 1R - BV sve ey - U2 &
1) o {11 7K O [ SR 0 7 o {080 (56 P (% e iRl B > BRAERETT > BIA R
It 55— I T (A R {16 T R A AR 5 A8 - B (A i R i s o B B > o (]
e [ S AT =5 e U A2 ot o 32 1 8 7 (oAl W 1] /K e ek 2 (4 ] £ — oy
MR 7K Uk MR P ) T BE & 5 2R 7K S B e Bk T (R — (I 5% K IR A A TR R
e 7

b RER IR S B O R A 4 L T R (R — YRR B R U L

JRED A — WA B — Y < B R 2 By > W K1 AE R o B0k HE R (R A T
EARAE o P DAR T B O & = I e (KRS e hE S o A i EUe
SR KA S — B (R K e 2 e e AR 4 -

DT
PERNARIEREME > HERERGEEE - NAERERERFZHE

UE [F AR A > AR EIERT O E R o AR IR o iR R AR (A
i 2] M A 55 S T W P A s R K BE B M Y R K & R g R Y B

- 97 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BKGHEREHELRERY 20162 H1H

7G5 0 BT AR ERZ — BR 4R R 0 (1 ah B AR E K > DRURy B IR AR
REE--REITECH > R E /TR ES B2 R K77 ] RErk
{18 {5 55 o (] 7K e B 4 7 B o e s i B )\ - S 2 28> AT L

Do (HRTNE--BIEE o RES -
i T A L T SR e VOl 22 8 - AR A SR D — YR R R - P

ERE RN > ER% > TEEE

o

[

A AT P ik s AR AR SR 1 2 AR > A i i {1 5 AR O 2 A i e 2% {18 B
BEE 2R > EEA R o BT AR SRS 1R - - VB (8 HT (A PR B AR
EHEEE AT > 2E5RG—EFE R R - B A — R
SR R EEE T o R EEE BRSO (E R > REA 0 (R
GE—EEI - SAREIREBEKRER % - Rk — S BRE =

B -

W FE PRI PRI > W (Al R R (8 K0 - (R (R m] DU 31 2% %
(B8 MR IRER KER AN - RT T DUER B TR AR 2l ie
1] T e o {11 M <z o O /7 T e 2 RO AR R, -

o lE T] DUMH E5 A MH 5 EE > BI&IE 0] DLSERT A S8R & 2 5L > 05%
fREET 1349 H > IRUERI A BEEE > ¥i{E pipes and fittings > H
BENEEE 2o FRBEEESEES A 20 B AT Y KEE
LRV NS ALY o BREE—E 7K A RE 2

CEWEE 4 BLFTEL cadmium IR - HEZMH W] - HRELHE TR 45
BT & & 4 T {25 R 1 T 78 o (180 4 1) 2% o 282 Vs (] 7K B O {1 175 ) R
HRF i > P It (% o ol o [ M HHE R MR 4 5 [ Py L > {8 S T4 U B it 3 40
FRAR A B AE YIRS 2% > IRAR AR L RE (A A 3 — 0 e 7K 3 2 B e
A AR AR BET 2 - BCE(RERRES 3y > IR (5 e (E R R e B
7 BAEMEREQFEIFAEWEREE - B AFREE SRR > AEH
SR IR A AW EE

A0SR P 5 7T 6 R SR 8 > TR AT 7T R 1 MR 1 e e R R (% > FK
It 58 57 e A W MY — - B S BT IR - W M AR R 0 nT RE AT R - WS BURE A
O ] 7K AR A il B T - B AT AR B g (5 40 SR TR R U (R R R R
MR (5% > Fet—E HEH O — ([ BEEF AL - S o (8 7 = - R E R

- 98 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BAKEGHEERAEZEY 201642 H1H

[if]

[

[

e

/‘

EE

o S o (2] S SR S K TR A R -

A i B ] o B S A= e 1 AR RE - AL AR Rt - IRt 2 IR
W+ EEEE g BEAREFEM connection points HflF
fiz - P % BT Rk A —TE e A T BR R o (R E O R B EE
BH > (RIRE1GH —(E 4 A% disconnect U ?

PUEEFRER SR o N R AR ARG i 1F - (B —JE - - HoR A PLRDZH5

FAR > BMRER — s RR AT DLAE] K [ W {18 18 7K 8 B 72205 5] —
KA E] > BB K2 B o {E e /K S e 2 OK (s ek > B RE AR AR
(RO —(E (£ PR 2 > A B o (i8] (36 /K e R o (8 /K8 - IR (AR 22
A — {8 EE e A e B

BfRE R AEIE RIS > 2 A7 35 A 5 DU 508 (5 KE 22 i K e 2
T {1 AR R - TN R EREBH S E IR AR - WeE 2 P B 4 I R K )E
JRER G [EWEERT (0 & > (AR BT DA 242 1 222 >R /K 75 (3 e 2% =M 25 B B i
{15 e 7K S O {16 2 SR S 5 1 i 7 Wi A I IR A T A P > FRAR (B R (i —

—H .

ST

TRER LG & - - R ARG A E 25 N 56 W B e 0% > R UE
{18 (5 22 20 S il (B0~ BB S [ S8 0 1] 6 56 S of (8] 2 2 -

WERAR TR B ) E 28 REE [E B4 E R S0E 2 4g0E 2 B
H—iEeBEH T -

DR E R AR A (S R e o A R A o TS PR A (]

ERTE) - B R RGeS -
H Bl — I S5 A —(EERE . .

B A% > B BRAE 15 0 Wt 4 O 0t 0 77 80 A8 1 T ot el g s 5
DT EAL o FER I EE o (AT (R .
1N

& - T B A (b o Hk. ..

EE

B TV EE - IR TTHGE ?

- 99 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BKGHEREHELRERY 201642 H1H

B SRR EE — Y B R AL R B B A F AT R o (R e I — 1 2
BREE . L.

ERE R P EEAT AT RUEE - b (S B 2
& RMATE B o T

ERE L 2

B R — T T G G — - O S T TR M O PR A

EE U - AT document s 0 H R (- H (I 1T BB
—If) risk assessment > HRIREFE T --EL4FEE > lead /K17
i > okay» A& historically fRAIM-——— L =8FEEXK. ..

11938 4F o

FF .. ban W o BEAER] > 4FW] > copper RATTHIE ?

% REEFR -

FREEER R

% WIBHRERIE > A EEAEET copper. ..

FRE e A R SR - T EE R —{#l contaminant ©

PEARLE copper » A MBEALERAIME S o BEHEE 5 - B
S 7 N R B AR B AR g o A SR {E g (R R OE R OK
{50 5] 7K & 7 WY BE e B It m] DUBE 2 - PR R F st B 7K IR Fg i - et B

BRI » S5 A0 SRR Bt o o (AR 48 - L (R 2 2, 000 fld — A7
RAHS e = e - HAT. .

s

TR A WY RETTHB SR ?

% Bl — RS BEARERTT. ..

TR B R EEER ?

% ANXHRESTTEREL  REGRSEER -

ERFE RS H WG T HME0E o NS IR B R Ir > fRfE

- 100 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BKGHEREHELRERY 201642 H1H

b OB > RBRSE 2 WH PR - B R e — L/ R S [ v
2002 fﬁ%”“%l”ﬁfﬂ”ﬁ? KM - Z AT REfRas T N R/ A
O R flEl risk 4l - WBHREM - 5 2002 FFEGg &R/ BHRAE
SR 0 R ONELEESER o (Eah T IS s EA #EE o (REK 7 FB
ISP E M Aleh p 2 g [ Eh R WA E R - AR Ay 5E (Rt
R o I 7 i {5 e R O 2

& AR - - R B BAEERATE - N R R EIGHET - S - - IR BRI 2 £
MEﬂiﬂlﬁﬁﬁi B R FEERER o R AT A AR B B 7~ i
FEEE . .

B RERAE G o (ROREE 2 A G o DEIEE 7 IR, ..

% FIEERBREREE RO R A (ERBEGLE 8.2 £ 8.8 (HiLH
YR TRU O (811 & S AR~ 59 FME L il 4 o 8 i .

F I - AREGIEEEE > By E lead solder FPEE G HEEA » N AU
REAIEEESE f”“@%ﬁﬂn WSS > lead solder HANMES A H &
g ?

% WEERR -
LS HORGREE > Btk . .
& - 2 EERET -

T WRREE THRERESE e EEVE%L R IEAMW
corrosions ~ ] heave metal & leach B - | I F77H
REN ©

% RERBREE o B XIE R LABG IE o TR R e

T« iE ko MEm LT RTINS > MRAHERE - BlMGRME BAEER
PR] o R 1) /R It DR 8 (L WE DL P 4F content > T A F({E connection
point Ft that’s it>finish> ﬁﬂ%%{fﬁ rest WENANHEE > beyond
ME Y IR RE TR S o IRBEE TR — e 2

F o FLE P e B v o ] B BURE o SR EE R TR 1T Ve A I o B AN RS T
A 2002 FHEH EREE &KETE H’/E%JES‘ZI%MI“E’J““EE«”F@% O FRE]
TE A B R KA - N A E R REEESCE - ERFAIWE e
KE A R R N R K FETT 58 - Bt DAE I 6 21 G (8 (4 47 B 3

- 101 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BKGHEREHELRERY 20162 H1H

B —2 > B FIEEEFRB L FF R — 1 2. 0 ki > FTDUE(E B — BhFe A
i -

55 A F It TR ED A% A A T B A o (E K E A — W R SR B
BEE TR ET T E - IREMRA T SRR 5 o Bt (R ) — I e A K
SR M AE 3 A% 25 4 A2 [R]85 25 0 R ol (& Mk PN BB R 7K 21478 » JRERBE e T
g

ER B B A A IRBREE advice BREE > BI{AUEMIRE (IRt © Pz 5
U B S M S AR O o (AR 2

E MR AR 23R B (K E A R o TR PR 0 R advice > Wd
{6 o —{E R > N A EIES. ..

EFE - HAT - RS (A GE SR I o IRt e = 2 e 2

E o AN AR R ER > TR K o B S AH A E /K HE B R
RI{5 e (& TR & et . . .

T HEREHEE > SERIREmM AT =N > 1) inside service » flf
K - g T DB T T O (% 25 I At 2 A O P R > S 2 IR (R 0 P
HEE — W L - - AR 2 RIRABLIE S intrusive F[X ABH{EE
B A

i

L -
E AN

% AR EERE. ..

Ht

IR A5
O ABRBEREEE - BIMRE RS AL -

LR B REARTTZ — i F advice » (REAIREL#EIE 0] LITT
%—20 > REIAMERWEE ensure AUE 1i 3w HE /K (27 22k
g ?

% UREFRER —ERRET] > BB AEE IR A] BL- - A Ry EAA . .

T B BRA > A M AR - EWE T > ABIIESIRA > IREA
WE--fR/K¥%E » {REE number one objective {RTLHFMf ? fR{E

- 102 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BKGHEREHELRERY 20162 H1H

ol
AL .
=

Fo/KB B EE R - (R R/KBE AL - ARG &R BUT R E
1 [ H AR (A fl e 1 2

He it e B E A F M B CRE SR A e SR kK o i (kK {E e KE
HH —ERPRE -

FJiE P Exactly » BEREIEEF ? fR{E H 09 (%8B & B H BA — w2 =W

AL
AL,
=

X

%

g

B KA LLMRE (& 3 07 420558 25 > We (d (R IR (E . . .
He it #0457 S A

D EIE(E > UE{E % number one {R{E priority ML ?

U ] e it 7 SE AR SRR o B (AT O (1 PR R O -

RG> [EGRIRM RIS L - IR & - - BRI (E comfort
zone Ft{4FE%({#H connection point ' {RE{T beyond {fi comfort
zone » B {T beyond f{ connection point » REtBEEIEE 2
unease °

EEH I o Bt a] DU R RE (R 2 E R NI A 0 BB B ARG

By siEp R - FIEEMEER S SMBEEEHEREE - B
I (A A 5 b B 5 25 075 AR () 1 B o {1 e — — o e o {1 e P
ER K 2 e leg > A0SR AREE R UE (8 R AL R T E KB E - RIG(EABE
T G (g T #t o W (S b — (B e B 5 0k

FE A AT UG & S - (B I ET A VA 1 22 1 2 S B /K AR AR > R
HOA E I R B B P BRI K 28 - (B (Rl SR ARG & (B B R A BT - AR
A ] BE r & 21 Fr 43 7K BE A B ek 7K il (8 /K8 (5 7 Z B (R 5 & R AR
AE > P (3 e (RS 2 40 R Bt 22 [ A S A B - HB G N AN B {E 4
B > A (IR EERE - A (8 PR 5 -

AN PR 7 T (B A (/KB R - (B R ar TR (R /K RE B IR /K
rom e 2R - EAE EE 2E NS E RV AN - 58 (R0 e 2
A > (B R DU (e — W R A1 2= F BRI /K (A i e S T R
PR - B0 & 5 — g L 5 1 MY I — WY shU% -

A S e {05 — {8 SR Bt 22 A 52k AR AR T B ML R /K (R 2
REUKHEHE > MEBUFEREER > WEGEEGES S - HE
b 52 B2 S (1] B 7K 2 AR > B B — Hf fi (& R AU (A Bh Ak > [F)3E
B R o IR R 'R i PR EL R BRE Y EE A5 - R AR (R IR B

- 103 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BKGHEREHELRERY 20162 H1H

[if]

KL .
Al:l .

[

IR 2 S I RE - IR A S st (st A SR IR 5 (P WA FE K - AT BE
GH—ERAE - A AE BB S PO o (R ORI AT AE (I AE T # R
HR - HAT 5 58 sk s — (8 K & % BRI (5% - W =R ADKZ AT
TRt 7K 765 28 15 T A 25 118 B i o 2 B K e R A e 2

L0 o BE R E e > S — (e T R AR T i R MO R K Z A - A

g /Ko - (B B B B Pt 6 2 55 RS Bk (A B (K Z 4% o o {12 e
WS 7K 280 17 47 4F R O 8 [ R 4 12 > WR(E TR &N (Bl E -

1E e
©RE ) o {18 (% & A — Y I A0 T e e e B o
Do WAERIZ IR (E D RE > FLAEVE—&E o M vy1 i - Y1 5 33 H

IR ME I Acows Mi(EFEZ A& > 2001 FHifER - 2001 4 > +
T R HLE S A R ] REL IR - PR N5 33 H 6.5. 1 BUA K IERE
e > Fi{4Eh = 0¥ > “In response to enquiries on Singapore’s
practice” » BIM{& R ME W2 Iy EEH %A » “WSD informed members
that the building management was required to engage
water analysts to take samples regularly i1in a
prescribed way from the tap and from the water tank,
and to submit periodic checking reports to ensure

proper water quality.”

IR{FEFLWSD undertook to gather more information on
the practices adopted by Singapore and other Asian
Cities for Members’ reference and for formulating the
detailed specification of the submissions such as

frequency and parameters for testing.”

W FEE 381 {5 " HRg A R B 208 7 a0 — Wy ot P Wi o) 457 5~ > (AR IF 2 it 52
3 k[0 ey W e R R e o R I (A K e ] R A B I R
1 — WY o s {181 7K W% (5] S 0 o2 e {180 7 A T el R o ey 7K i 5 7 i 5
Fe i me o POARRT T U 8 & s IRt A 77 50 A A il R A T e
DAY P A MR T i 2

HI 6 Tl (5 % B o o o {18 &7 S 4 okl B 7 SRS -
%> 7785 -

- 104 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BKGHEREHELRERY 20162 H1H

o
=

[if]

[

DI RAAREE 8 R o WH{EH AP quality water in building

supplementary paper No. 1 RNiBFFTELAHFTL > A EMEEE
AR A e — Wt G & > Ry - &40 - 2y - F&E
W [ R L > MG B (RA —(EEER AR - N A N E
FE e [ UEE ) G

o BCEIMIES—06 34 H - &8 > 6.5.5 (BRI ERA K
Hift“expressed great concern on the proposal to include
chemical and bacteriological analyses as statutory
requirements. There might not be enough accredited
laboratories to do the required tests and the tests
might be very expensive. He suggested that WSD should

look for the minimum requirements. Members agreed.”

VR R DT A e O O — (R ik 5 LR UE Y (LR
—WUEIEI) bacteriological BEMILELH 44 - (4 E b 0k (6 % 1
FE o E By— {2 (50— (R 22 262 B2 0EE > (4K (E VR I IR 22228 2 BT &
% 2

RRE BB ([ ST o BIBEE I S 1R A (E & SR A0 Bk A L > R B R

— = PRI IE (AR (R T - 5 e (] 3 M % BR AR R SR W SR TR 0L 0% - 3t
b FM AT A P > 7K HE BE i 73 (3 7 S50 (5t — iy e % 2 R B 22
A LR G A ) (R e {0 22 A s, > e {18 R e IR R S UA
Bl > S—J5E > EARMEEIR - BIREh e 5ha - B & A AT A
R AT = ] 7K F5E 5 2 T PR 7K S 0 2 4 — — g Wi — {18 e mES 0 3t

B {fah Heit (22 e T Fe s Rk & 1re—2 > Bl 2 e —2
2 ORI (il 1 /K22 2 - e {2200 Sl I8 B R - FREiE RIF A bhapr
WE o UE (M Z= B E IR (R AR

o o REERET S T o {8 2 B A AE - 5 5 RS E A T A R B I i {18 2 B
fRAERE R - RSB —Wh G1 > G1 304 H - 304 5 17 BEUfE » UE
{E{%—1{E Schedule 2 Part 1 Wf - Fi&HEEA WIMEEE PE D (i iy
WA - & 17 Wi B ¥t 5% — W “capillary fittings or
compression fittings shall comply with BS 8647 > It
KI7E 864 FLIERZ (& 1983 A0 (I H H vef 5 BRI AR B IRIEL » “Part 2 for
capillary and compression fittings of copper and
copper alloy and compression fittings for pipes laid
under the ground shall be Type B.”

- 105 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BKGHEREHELRERY 20162 H1H

[

SHAEREAE AR > AR EE Ve (EA BT - BUF 5 (577 5 A e o (i
SLEPEARRRE > T R 1 ST e SE R EE - RS AR D 7E 0 [ FE
s iSO 2

- Off 1 AT R il M1 5 (2) {18 9% Rt T 0 (R 24 (7 R e o B 18] > B (20 SR 3K
It AT el SR

DATEE  ATEE o PRERTER R o Wb A A K S A ] BE R A R A
GHER > AUE > OFF R E R AR AFFE AT
H—W S > B R circular 4> (5 4 UEE > shEEE
HoAth e O B s ot T BB AR B R E o e IRBEE R E T ¢
A A7 e — I I AR R SO A R 2

DR AT — {18 7 [ MR AT A Pl s B O O o I I g i — — 170 5 e e o

40 B O 7 5T S 5k (500 (g 2 -
R (B . .

DE B 2 AT WBENE [E R AR N R E R T B e AR A

IR AR b — TE (5 B 21 2 R o fl] MR AT 24 - — f O ] A5 o M 52 A 5%
K~ ARERE - TREE TSROk ] UEER] - Ve E (R fE EAs
A — e R B e (I SR AT o (E R fIE B B BT R A AR AR K
U {1 e e e M (lE SRR > JRES R RE SR A E M A KB E K AR
ARV - P (A DR g — I8 T A S — A o UG — I {18 PR R
7o g AEE 7w WG EEAGEE - AR
It 5 25 & PR HL — YT 8 -

DREESR IR MR . -

TR REGRFHE > H#EZX -

KF
(=)

SRS
%

» Bt o B (I AR AR S e IR R (% - Pl B 5 B 20 5L — E wt
o L o T I B P I o ([ S Y S U TR AR R R
B BURE WL AL SR T T 0 O MR s A 25 B o R B (] B {1 AR R - R
B~ & A GG A — W A v (A > Pt B —
M ] 152 08 B PR P 5 R 0 4 25 i B R (M BR A > WE(E P (e 75 ZE (R (LB P
[ S 2 S U g,

EFE RS R W R ARFEAE R G AL BS & EE I -

- 106 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BKGHEREHELRERY 20162 H1H

IRAEEBIBR S =BG EE - R Ry IR SR AW <F & ¥k BS JAG > —
PeR fe] O SCRT DL E5 g - ARG R 2F 2

E L MR(EA P EE AETTAE WL SR T > K BB (R AT DA i {E - - Bl
(i a7 o i e By = Rl VLV g ) L A = Bl |

relaxation e

R S DUERE B B A0 R BRI 1 ST 864 R0
g ?

E Pt ol Pt o (i 48 H BN (A EE S R TR EK -
L - Efh o BRI FHEEYE ?
& - IR R A (8 882 G S A PR A R > BT AR A A 4 RS BT -

TR KEEAF 2R EE - BHRIEGIEERE] > {R{E# regulation
SLIA 5 B I R R kW (A 25 R o R AR g 1Y e M e 2

i

bRt L ] —E EL R SR MR U7 o Rt B PR R (R E 7 i e i S g
R i > P & F 59 S0 — W ek A - B TRt — o 3 il g i R — i ek
[58] MR 57 £ & R

FRE AR IRME--BR > TREBE R TEE 2 5t B0 {& IR 1 5 56 Ve (&
regulation 17 Wg—&¢ --UEEIEE B A KA A updated Bf > {RDR
M I 2

& L BB A DA L > Bl{REEUE(E 17 WARE R R EE(E BS 864 > {Hik
R regulation 2 (A fof M (E AR - U G & Bof RO
o k. .

FE ARBEITHBE—E circular 30E --IE&HIT > IRB/KEEFT HiE—
5 circular EUE(E 864 IENE » 1254 SolgmH AR ?

% check — check Jo> TIBEUE E HIK H A — R B Hik . . .

TR B IR KR AT RERE - B R E 4 B - BB i
—EZ AP AR T R E AR B IRIE — (A A BBk regulation B Iff
R

Fr BT 2 o e e O oA [ ER AR B - bt gk < BE R IER o 8 1 o (R T
e {4 B[R e 6 36 S i 2k - BT HE A D — i EE X EH

- 107 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BKGHEREHELRERY 201642 H1H

IE{E T check check-e
FRE AW BMAR IR R Fe sl B o (RBR o ?
E A BMREST S A A . .
TR+ R Ry U i o 28 25 77 TR R T R R 2
g
ERE RN A AR

E o AR AT R R O A (E K > A RARIR (A BY - wE FH f  oA {E E
AE > BIRATRAWE IR T - B 5% 58 o (E 524 . . .

T - G ERTEGREAE ST ARE - (RUELHE - BB 2 JRIFEZK
NE#% exceptions X T lab 8 REBIEIERS L X T
7% T4 7 We U I W AR EE A0 PR 0 RS T R A o At A A
B> 864 0 132 1254 » AIHE 1254 HREE » IHFEE= ST 864. ..

0

DECE I o Pt ST 0E F o ] 4 2 BE ME e T = > (BAREE BAR
B - S5 B b SR SR R A It o ([ 20K A - - AT R K -

LR ¢ R DA AR B - BRAELEE EE (AR ST > UHBLIE ©

& UG o B (A S g o (8 i 2 B A 5 2 o PR SRR EE R
AR HEEMEA R EBEER. ..

FRE REAMERH 2 K% flexibilities » BNE K wide I discretion
B —(f executive EERF(EE > ik 88 e {5 o 2 B A5 T 155 NEE Vg e

& ¢ P DA E SRR (A S B {1 SR A 2 st A H > kB e BT A # AT A

s 51 o {1 2SR PR Y T - 5 R T 00 8 B R HLAh A TR A e 28 B
WEAN - BT DA HB (8 (R — (EarBE T 0% > (RiEER T -

P O (6 48 B R RO 20 1% 2015 2R 80 K S 0 AR 85 2 068 (0 106 » (DK 2
B

[ [N Ry Z i R IR .

- 108 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BKGHEREHELRERY 20162 H1H

TR - HEREBE A (EE 85 7Am - B R R g ss e - S IR0AR
R T B R AR SR R ] s R O R,

E o FE Tt AR U (R AL (T e o BRI — WA . ..

LT G o [ R L R E AW - AR (R - - IR SRR H SRR E
Y O > (RIBR 2 BEPRVRVGUH B o A (5 S 00 g {25 1R A 249 2 1o R PR iy
77 WER] Diah A B AP H IR E R AEEHE T > i e A
S5 BRI o G RS I

E N BB E—EE o BOCEES - B REE R AT —(EEY 55 5 K%
B A (DL B AR AR W (R R o IR BRI RIS A o AR RS S
{1 W R M A A 25 T A G R R E A - W {IE 7 ER S S by R

EE RE] DAEE T B S Ak > BRI by notice HEFAER -
BRI > 7T N EE—E R 2 A R e ?

& ERE(E BT A IR B K — (E VA E R R o BV R IE (8 & 73 (B B 22 0l
& WNREHT  HEEDVEZR% - RRE T - - B 5 EE
WL AR ENZI > P &R 6 2] H At g — AR 0% > B g R ER g A [
a0 FT TR (RIDK A AR (% S E A

TR BOERAIRFIER - Fwt me e (- - E B R R AR E > DD I
SERC H H R - 5 HA B SR AE R Schedule 1 SEH A &M
AW Part 1 RHAE—ENEIK Part 2 REHRE XA
I Y I PR R 2 P SO (R

i

R IR IE (b PR ME (E ZEY) o (RDREIA . ..

TR B B ARSUR B Z0 > SR SOR BIEE Z 0 - R H AR SR o

% AR E M (E EEY) — B WL > BIZIS A LA G I ?

LR ECH BT RN > BEY) > T EEEEY) o Bl A R

& RBEEME LA — o A BT AR - M (R AR R —
E?’%i.ﬁf%ﬂfﬁ%%%ﬁﬁﬂﬂi BB BRI IR R R R A i o AR AR

ERE R IRAE R JE RS R Y N R B — SR AR TT o S

- 109 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BKGHEREHELRERY 20162 H1H

[

[

WREASA - fTE77 > lBEah " M &M British Standard
Bt o ) EARIRMEAE definitions EREE IR AT A WEEF L — xE 22 R e Hr ek
British Standard > JRZRURI X IE (f— & BT IEE

DR E A R ERTT > P AT A A — (A o D (A S e o Y DEE P T it

GUKFTEZEIZIB T > T AR g @S - Bl E REE RSB S
[T DT G i M — P 1R 20 2 5 (5 B {1025 151 22 1 7 U o ] LA IE 5 T )
Llfi e -

B TR R —f > FRULIEBI Z b > 0 SRt e — B (I /K 7% B i 5 Tk S
A BHE wwode MY form o FRMES—HE B15.1 37621 » WE{&E F
BE T 2K WAREE —(H part I of JE—5k form B » ifg part I
U P> R A O R (I8 R K e [ (] B I T Rl AT 7R W R UE R A
ot i B L AR 55 R Wi i) DR & 5 & 7K 6% B R EE I 52 > BIIRUE (8 (% 2 W8 >
FHEE “PURPOSE OF SUBMISSION” HEEEF o

EHYE B 0E B2 > Femtiis —Bf 37627 MANE - RLE] 37627 » {15
TR N a2 T AR - Femt B EIUE (E R ERZ (R 2012 50 (& hi
AL > WEEE R o 135S 7 EEt(ReEHE—IF fittings ~ taps >
valves » combination fittings 25 » (BB FT A e 10F 05 5] A2E 4

RVEE

B A ER 6 8 TRZ B St s > (EH P —EALEF > Bk IR
H KB E R E C Pl 5T e 0 IH 1 2 A% AT B 51 H R R T SR - T (A
15 = (B (5 5 e 2 FH R > EL M = 0T AR (R B RS -~ RANTE XA
MH IR 1% e 2

DD B o e
b RIRIE IR M R AT R 2 BT (5 B I e DR T o DR S [ A A O (AL AR. - nfik g

(B A8 AT AT s AL E 4 R IB VLI > (RIBKEF 2

DAY > E (R It 0 A P 2 A R o e M B R A o (s B REK

% 53 LR R e e T (A e/ ) MR — A IR M R BRI - 4 SR A A F S
B o B L RS E A R A SRR AE o e A B
D o HE i {18 /K e A A 7 T E 52 B AR D

WA A a2 B 2% R o B ST o (BT o e o A e —(E
FAE I o R K U [ B 2 e > (B S Sk (R st i B0 0~ MIRHMAT &

- 110 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BAKEGHEERAEZEY 201642 H1H

[

IRut KB AR A > BIREE 2R & 8 A U B AR AR g - M — - Btk
1 S S o A < 7K Mk [FE 0 5 R B 208 ) DR 7 B A 4 (A i 1 1 2

DIEANEREE S o AR I A W Ry M DR R AR AR - o — (AR A AR A

Bk 15 7K 15 5 [R5 57 (5 — {18 e A% o U2 251 5 o {180 57 of {11 I vt o {1 e
SEZ FE] Ay D O o {1 AR A (o (S AR - . .

CHA. .

o AR [E RS — (R RUAE (R B AT R > P DA 0B R A B 1 R
AR EDE - BORANBRSC TS 2] 1 RS 2 > TR T 2 0 A — (i 48 5 ek
HIE - We i wT RE JRED A — WYL 5 (M S = > e (B AN AR H RE 22 F
¢ it S g v 25 A [ D B

DR] Ry i A2 0 iy B {18 P REL G 2 it P Tt & B & 1R R i B 25 R i 7 [
FRAEER 5% - B —(p LB AL (B AR AT 5h T IR F T 285 I DL
IRIEE © o BT DARRL AR — IR 0EE - Wt (A R & g AR R - - B (K85 3 (AR
kG ESY i AR S S e LR el S T i e

D E IR B A E R EEMCERATE o (B EBRAT LA W E AR AR o P E A

AR Bt EA(ES — K e A E o B (A S B O At A
PR IE FEHE — T2 > e 5 MR At A T (5 J PR > ok 588 ek g — o g 7 e e 26
& EG R iR EEE > sirheiE R R R T (E R E
T EIKB BB At - (EFR A —(E5REE - b eb o (5 ek (L b B i 2 [H]
1B e BB % B i 25 HR 2 e (R sl et e 5 -

IEAN R e i - Pt &8 H wk [ Ue (E bR A A — (R E e > g
ieF I D S O A0 58 B B A R0 - WE — (i MR UL TR ED (R A A — PR IR L
HE o MR B (A — W i T -

AR B85 O (5 5B R4 5

N R N URB (R s IREE ?

P IEE A ERT R
DRI REE
D P DA g i e o (R A E e 0 R -

AP IR PR PR AR — [ 5 (5 73 (o8 W {18 437 R 7K o U /g 2% -6 o {1 31 4R

- 111 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BKGHEREHELRERY 20162 H1H

{5 g > kB N IR R AP EEH BALG o TLEE Y
LG - TEFILEE o (RDREF ?
ATESRIEAE - -
LG - TEFTURE W o (hog 2% R I 2
AT EMITAE © PRERTOAM —(E =T -

ERF - HALS L EET - FANEAETE A HE > MRS AHE - (PEE
WA ERE ? AT ? 4 e

FHFLE  RGHESE > 28 -

EFEIRGHES - 5 5 THEE - Hih o ROGE R - 5 -
JUEEE - FEEAE -

20l6 2 A 1 H

T 4 B 31 pHSERMAR

- 112 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



BKGHEREHELRERY 20162 H1H

fEETHM : —FE—RNFE_HIUH

LUT B fZ X HTRTER 7 -

Hicf{r® IN{T

2016 2 H1 H

L 10 B 04 5 RS

AL -

FTIE A BT R B ARG - BIMEEAT - (CRBE K Z#
B EZEAE

TAGUEEFEALEAN ~ BRAE (G A AR LI A AT - 7 R
FHNE - (CRABEER

FHEEE RN ~ FEE AR~ R GEA AR B2
KT » I # 5# ~ FEEROFEHITEN - (CRBFWR
g N E M F Lee Pui Yi » Chong So Nga K
Lui Hui Ping

X e 2k B AN EATR T E A AT > 18T EENTT 2 - (€
RIRFEEFEEFIRI A

1T B A EATR B S A AT - 114 & 15 AT 7% T
g KRG FEZAE

Mr Ian Pennicott BRI EEE KB » HiF17T
RATTTEENE » (CRFEEZZETFE (&) RN E

EIHALEA ~ FREA BRI ZLA A - H B G
BTN - (CRAFIEFFIRL A ~ W5 HIRE 7R (2

- 113 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 49

Monday, 1 February 2016

(10.04 am)

(Transcript of simultaneous interpretation
except where otherwise specified)

MR KHAW: Mr Chairman, before the Water Supplies Department
calls its first witness, I want to point out that last
Thursday, we received four additional witness statements
from the WSD. Last Friday, I also received --

CHAIRMAN: Sorry, what did you get on Thursday?

MR KHAW: Last Thursday, we received four additional witness
statements from the WSD.

Last Friday, again from the WSD, we have also
received further documents. In particular, the WSD has
said that there is a statement from an expert witness --
we got them on Thursday and Friday last week -- in
relation to additional witness statements and additional
documents. I understand that this Commission is not
bound by any particular procedures. However, in
relation to such late submissions —-- the Water Supplies
Department is a very important government department in
this Inquiry. The submission of such documents just one
or two working days before its first witness I don't
think is satisfactory.

I say this because if we are to take a look at the

four additional witness statements, among them, for the
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Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 49

3rd witness statement of Wong Chung Leung, in that
statement he rebutted the report of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers, in particular the deficiencies
in the system in licensing plumbers.

In fact, that particular IE report was received in
November, and when we examined the Housing Department
witness, namely Ms Ada Fung, reference was made to that
report, and also section 15 of the WWO in relation to
the licensing of plumbers, the role of the WSD,
et cetera, were also referred to in one of the witness
statements of Mr Lam.

In fact, licensed plumbers is one of the issues
mentioned in the August statement. Then we have Mr Chau
Sai Wai. He explained why in Scotland and Wales, as
a result of the leaded solder materials and the problems
thereof, it is said that they didn't know it and they
were giving an explanation.

Regarding the problems in the US and Wales -- in
fact, when we ask questions of the second, third and
fourth witnesses, they were mentioned. I don't know why
they only referred to them so late. It isn't just
a matter of attitude. It will also affect our
examination. All parties to the Commission are working
to a very tight schedule and have been making

preparations accordingly. We are at the forefront.
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Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 49

Whenever a witness is presented, we are the first to ask
questions.

Just one or two working days before we see the first
witness from the WSD, we are flooded with so much
information, it will create difficulties for us.

I'm not going to criticise this, because we are
supposed to make full preparation, but to me I think
this is not desirable.

Moreover, on Thursday, we were given additional
documents, but no explanation has been forwarded as to
why the submission was made so late.

The Commission has always been making orders
concerning the timetable of witnesses. Never have we
seen an application to ask for approval of the
Commission to allow for the inclusion of such additional
witness statements.

So I think that as far as etiquette is concerned,

I think we should have been informed of such

an arrangement. Moreover, we have been meeting the
lawyers day in, day out, for the past four days. We
should have been notified that there would be additional
documents, but never have we been told about that.

Then, for the new witness, that is a Mr Kan, we have
been listening to the views of the CIC, VTC, and also

the views of the Hong Kong Plumbing and Sanitary Ware
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Trade Association. All of a sudden, on Friday last
week, we were given this additional expert witness
Statement.

Why is it so late? Probably, there are only two
reasons. First of all, being slow, but I'm afraid,
given with such a large team of lawyers, they would not
be working at a very low level of efficiency. But then,
if they are only able to come up with such a reply after
listening to other witnesses, I'm afraid this is not
quite fair to other parties and I hope that, as we move
on, we won't be having such late papers.

If anybody would like to give further information to
reply to what has been said, that's fine. That's
another matter.

But then for what is going on, if somebody else
would like to give additional documents, I just hope
that this won't happen again.

DR WONG: Mr Chairman, for the new witness statements
submitted by the WSD, I would like to forward
an explanation, for the sake of the Commission as well
as parties to the Commission.

For the new witness statements, there are issues
that we need to clarify, like the HKIE. We are not
trying to rebut their report but then we need to

clarify. We could have done so by asking the witness to
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do so in the witness box, or I can put the questions to
the witnesses. To save time, instead of letting me ask
the witness, so as to clarify the position, I think it's
better, for time management, to have the issues to be
clarified being contained in the witness statements.

The purpose isn't so much to create inconvenience.
Rather, we would like to facilitate everybody. This is
for everybody's convenience. We don't want to take any
advantage over others. This is very important.

CHAIRMAN: But on the face of it, it appears to be so.

DR WONG: Mr Chairman, if the perception is as such, if all
parties would like to have more time, we are willing to
give more time.

CHAIRMAN: I am not willing to give you more time.

DR WONG: I understand.

CHAIRMAN: We have our own timetable. We have already set
down the timetable.

DR WONG: If lawyers need time to prepare --

CHAIRMAN: For such issues, I'm sure you would have known
about them even before everything started.

DR WONG: Yes.

CHAIRMAN: How come towards the end of last week, all of
a sudden, you submitted a number of witness statements?

DR WONG: Mr Chairman, as we have said, it is not that we

tried to do so at such a late moment. We had to strike
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a balance. First of all, we can get the information by
way of examination-in-chief.

COMMISSIONER LAI: But the HKIE report has been submitted
a long time ago, so how come you had to submit the
information so suddenly?

DR WONG: Our options were either we don't put in the
witness statement and then by way of examination I can
have it clarified; or we can have it written down and
allow me to read it out. That would be quicker.

So that's the point of consideration. We don't want
to create such an impression.

CHAIRMAN: I don't gquite agree. For the witness statements
that we have read, it seems that they are trying to
rebut others point by point, so it has all been
tailored.

DR WONG: Yes. I agree that I would like to seek
clarification point by point.

CHAIRMAN: So are we right: we have set out a rule in the
outset, that is there is a deadline for submission of
witness statements? Unless there are special
circumstances, like the deputy director of the Housing
Department, we have asked for her to get more
information, so she gave a supplementary witness
statement. That's fine. But then for yours, that's

about licensed plumbers, section 15, et cetera --
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I think from the outset everybody knew what it was all
about.

Now, you have read all the statements, you have
listened to other witnesses. You are trying to rebut
others.

DR WONG: We would like to get the facts, Mr Chairman, so we
don't want to take advantage. We just want to set out
the facts.

Mr Chairman, as to the weight you give to the facts,
it is up to the chair and the member of the Commission,
it is at your discretion, but still we would like to
present the information to you.

CHAIRMAN: All right. From today onwards, if any party to
like to put in any witness statement, please apply to me
in advance.

DR WONG: On this point, Mr Chairman, I would like to point
out one point. There is an expert witness statement
concerning water sampling. For that expert, we are also
waiting for the final report of the expert of the
Commission. That is the report from Prof Joseph Lee and
Prof Fawell. We are told that we can expect them in the
middle of the week.

There is also one other expert not from the WSD
assisting us, so we would like to get your expert

reports first. We would hope that by Friday this
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week -- the earliest is Friday that we can submit our
expert report.

CHAIRMAN: When will your expert be testifying, if you can
give us the witness statement as you have said?

DR WONG: Before or after Prof Fawell.

CHAIRMAN: So how long will it take? Our UK expert will be
testifying after the Chinese New Year. Would you like
to hear what he would like to say before you call your
expert witness?

DR WONG: We would like to see the report before we comment
on the report, or we can submit a reply report.

CHAIRMAN: Why can't you do it earlier?

DR WONG: We haven't seen Prof Fawell's report.

COMMISSIONER LAI: An expert report doesn't have to be
submitted after the other expert's report has been
presented.

CHAIRMAN: Why can't you give us a preliminary report?

COMMISSIONER LAI: So why is it that every time you wait
until the other side's report is presented before you
present yours?

DR WONG: Of course, we can certainly present one
preliminary report and then a final report.

CHAIRMAN: Yes. When? When can you do that?

DR WONG: Friday.

CHAIRMAN: Don't wait for the other side. Let's say, if you
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ask your chief chemist and he says this should be

done -- you know what we are driving at. Last time, we
issued a statement, and at 10 or 11 pm at night you
issue a press release saying there's no problem.

Of course, you must have been given instructions. Why
didn't you tell us? Why do you have to tell us at the
very last minute, and you only submit your report only
after the other side's report is ready?

DR WONG: We have explained why there's no conflict in Chan
Kin Man's statement, the chief chemist's statement. We
explained in paragraph 4. We would like to get
an expert who is not from the WSD.

CHAIRMAN: So when will the witness be testifying and for
how long? I have a time schedule to meet. I have to
submit my report. Are you saying that you don't know
how long it will take? So whatever is said that is not
to the liking of the WSD, there will be someone coming
out to rebut them but you don't know how long the
procedure will take?

DR WONG: No, no, no, that's not what I am suggesting. The
preliminary report will be submitted this Friday.

CHAIRMAN: So you mean you must have the final say, after
our witnesses have testified?

DR WONG: I'm just talking about water sampling, the

technique of water sampling, and the expert witness
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statement on that.

CHAIRMAN: Why can't you take that statement earlier?

DR WONG: We would like to see what Joseph Lee and the
other --

CHAIRMAN: Exactly. That's what you are trying to do. You
want to hear what other experts have to say and then you
want to have a point-by-point rebuttal.

DR WONG: I can do this through examination-in-chief.

CHAIRMAN: That's another matter.

DR WONG: We can submit a preliminary report, and then, if
we have to reply to the expert witnesses, we will submit
a final report.

CHAIRMAN: All right. From today onwards, if anyone wants
to submit any additional statement or documents, you
must get the approval of the Commission first, because
I don't want to spend time arguing about this. Don't
you think this is fair?

DR WONG: I think if the principle is that the Commission
should be informed of everything that the Commission
needs to know -- and then we go for the efficient mode
of communication.

CHAIRMAN: For example, the so-called expert witness report
from Kan Kwok Leung, what's new in that report, apart
from the rebuttal? Tell me.

DR WONG: Mr Kan's expert report, he is an experienced

- 10 -
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licensed plumber. He will be telling --
CHAIRMAN: There have been so many plumbers. How many
questions have you put to them?
DR WONG: Three licensed plumbers have given evidence.
CHAIRMAN: I know. You did ask questions. How many
subjects have you covered in those questions?
Please call your first witness.
DR WONG: Mr Chairman, the first witness I would like to
call is the director of Water Supplies.
MR ENOCH LAM TIN SING (sworn)
CHAIRMAN: Please take a seat, Mr Lam.
Examination-in-chief by DR WONG
DR WONG: Chairman, Mr Lam's witness statement can be found
at bundle C19.1, page 10279.
Mr Lam, please may I refer you to your first witness
statement. Page 10279 in C19.1.
CHAIRMAN: You may begin.
DR WONG: (Paragraphs 1 to 12 were read in English)
Please refer to the following diagram showing
a schematic layout of the waterworks and inside service.
(Paragraphs 12 to 16 were read in English)
The organisation chart as follows: Director of Water
Supplies; under him, Deputy Director of Water Supplies;
and below him there are six divisions: Development

Branch, New Works Branch, Operations Branch, Mechanical
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and Electrical Branch, Customer Services Branch and
Finance Branch.

(i) Development Branch.

(Paragraphs 17 to 43 were read in English)

A. Mr Leung Wing Lim, assistant director/New Works.
Areas covered: The stakeholder theory; The design,
construction and maintenance of the waterworks
(answering in part paragraphs i.2 and 1i.3).

B. Mr Chan Kin Man, chief waterworks chemist (2nd
statement). Overview of monitoring and control of water
quality at waterworks including the development of the
Water Safety Plan (chapter 3 of August statement in
paragraph i.1l); Water sampling and testing by WSD in
respect of inside service including monitoring of water
quality at consumer taps (from perspective of WHO
Guidelines/chemical aspects) (paragraph i.8); Rationales
for testing eight parameters for newly constructed
inside service (paragraphs i.7 (c) and (d)) and testing
seven parameters for Quality Water Supply Scheme for
Buildings (paragraph i.8).

(Part of the above areas also incidentally cover
paragraphs 1.2 and 1.3 of the 12 October letter.)

C. Mr Lam Ching Man, assistance director/customer
services. Monitoring and control of construction,

et cetera and maintenance of inside service; complaint

- 12 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 49

handling and promotion of Quality Water Supply Scheme
for Buildings for the safety and quality of drinking
water at inside service (chapter 4 of August statement
in paragraph i.1); Water treatment plant through which
water is supplied to each affected estate; Approach to
taking and testing of water samples from inside service
before connection of water supply to affected estates
(paragraph i.7(a) and (b)); Inspection and testing of
water samples in inside service (from perspective of
Quality Water Supply Scheme for Buildings

(paragraph i1.8); Construction of inside service in
affected estates by licensed plumbers (paragraph i1.12).

(Part of the above areas also incidentally cover
paragraphs i.2 and 1.3 of the 12 October letter.)

D. Mr Chan Hing, assistant secretary (Lantau).
Regulations, et cetera pertaining to construction of the
affected estates and prohibiting the use of plumbing
materials from which lead may leach into water
(paragraph i1.4); Work of Licensing Authority and
qualifications et cetera for granting a plumber's
licence (paragraphs i.10 and 1i.11).

E. Mr Cheung Yip Kui, senior engineer/customer
services (technical support)2, WSD. Areas to be
covered: Existence of lead in plumbing materials; use of

deviated plumbing materials; and inspection and approval
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in respect of the affected estates (paragraph i1.6);
Steps and measures by WSD after discovery of excess lead
incidents (paragraph i.9).

44, I confirm that the contents of this witness
statement to be true to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief.

Dated this 6th day of October 2015."

Director, I have just read out your witness
statement. Is it your signature on the last page?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you agree to have the statement that I have read out
to be adopted as your evidence?

A. Yes, I agree.

Q. Anything to add?

A. Mr Chairman, as to the statement read out by the lawyer,
I would like to add a few points.

First of all, I am very grateful that the WSD,
myself and my team be given the opportunity to come here
to assist in the Inquiry of the Commission.

Let me repeat once again that the WSD is very
concerned and attaches as lot of importance to the
quality and safety of drinking water.

I would like to explain the work of the WSD in the
past few decades. To ensure that water is safe, I think

there are two important points. First of all, the
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drinking water supplied by the WSD has to be up to

a particular standard. Second, for the inside service
system, it is the responsibility of the private
households to prevent it from being contaminated by
chemicals and also bacteria.

As to the supply of water and making sure it is
safe, we have to start with the source. In 1965, we
started to have two sources for our water: first of all,
local yield from rainwater; second, Dongjiang River
water from the mainland.

For the local yield, under the Waterworks Ordinance,
we have defined areas from which we gather our water as
gathering grounds, and we have been very stringent in
monitoring and controlling the developments therein, so
that the drinking water will be up to a particular
standard.

For Dongjiang water, over the years the WSD has been
liaising with the Guangdong authorities to put in place
measures to monitor and control the quality of Dongjiang
River water. 1In particular, in 2003, a dedicated water
mains was constructed to carry the water from Dongjiang
to Hong Kong, so as to make sure that the quality of the
water will be up to the standards on the mainland.

Then we have to treat the water from the sources.

At various water treatment works, we have been using
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an advanced and scientific and stringent way to treat
the water, and the water has been treated up to world
standards. Moreover, we have been drawing a large
number of water samples to certify that the water that
we supply is up to standard.

For treated water, it will then go into a few
distribution systems. In this regard, we have been
relying on the World Health Organization guidelines. It
is a risk-based approach, to see whether we are able to
maintain the standards. According to the WHO
Guidelines, as far as microbiological contamination,
basically we will be testing the water samples for
chemical analysis. It is by way of material monitoring.
That would be the approach.

In relation to monitoring of materials, when we
construct the government's water supply system, we have
the concept that the different stakeholders of the
construction industry will be discharging their
respective responsibilities. Therefore, in our tender
document, we will specify the specifications for the
waterworks, including the pipes and fittings, and we
have also got professionals on site to monitor the
construction.

Moreover, in the contract documents, we have also

asked the contractors to confirm the materials procured
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are in line with the contract specifications, and there
are also qualified persons monitoring the work carried
out.

In this regard, when the water supply system has
been completed, we will be drawing water samples. As
I have said, this will be in line with the risk-based
approach of the WHO in relation to bacteriological
risks. We will try to see whether the bacteriological
contents are up to the WHO Guidelines requirements.

Yes, under the WWO, we haven't got any standards for
water quality. But since the year 1994-95, the WSD has
pledged that the water that we supply will be totally in
line with the WHO requirements.

Moreover, every year, 160,000 water samples are
being drawn, to test for the water quality, to make sure
that it is up to WHO Guidelines. In the year 2007, in
accordance with the 2004 Edition of the WHO Guidelines,
we have been devising and also implementing Water Safety
Plans. In 2012, when we shared our information with the
WHO, we have been told that the Water Safety Plans that
we have drawn up could be a good example for other
countries.

Having covered about the safety aspect of our water
supply, I would like to turn to what we do to make sure

that the inside service system is clean and safe. First
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of all, the construction stage; second, the maintenance
and repair stage. At the construction stage, we are
still adhering to the WHO Guidelines, still having

a risk-based approach. That is, as far as
bacteriological contamination is concerned, we rely on
water sample testing, and then for chemical
contamination, we rely for material monitoring.

For the materials, what we have been doing, when
compared with what I have been referring to, that is the
concept of division of labour within the construction
industry, they are the same.

Then for the WSD, we are the regulator. What we are
doing is that in accordance with what was said by the
Construction Industry Review Committee in 2001, there
was a report in that year, and then in 2011 the WHO also
published a document as to how the inside service of
buildings should be made sure that it is clean, and also
in line with the very important concept of division of
labour and each discharging his or her own
responsibilities.

For the WSD, we are a regulator; we have to make
sure that we specify the materials. Moreover, we have
a professional licensing system to carry out the work.
For other stakeholders, like the developers, the

contractors, just like any other construction industry
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projects, we understand that sufficient supervising
staff members will be sent to the construction site to
monitor the construction.

We have also set out clearly our requirements. We
hope that the developers and the contractors can confirm
with us that they have been procuring the materials in
line with the specifications. In fact, we believe that
to be able to do it properly, we should do it at source,
when it comes to procurement. Also, during the
construction stage, we have to make sure that the work
is carried out in line with the specifications.

For the WSD to have the final inspection, if we rely
on that, at that stage, relatively speaking the
efficiency will be low. In the past, we are been
liaising with the stakeholders and working on this all
the time.

Since 2008, the waterworks projects have become more
and more complicated. Other than relying on the
licensed plumbers to make sure that the waterworks
projects are done according to the requirements, we have
also got this, that is the authorised person, that is
the AP, will also certify that the project that he
oversees 1s using the materials specified by the WSD.

We have this double requirement.

We believe that in this way the materials that we
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require for the works will surely be those to be used.

Other than the system that I have referred to, we
have also made reference to some overseas practices, say
for example, that in the US, in Canada, in Australia and
in Singapore. We tried to see how they have been
monitoring their inside service systems. Well, the
system that I have described is more or less what they
have been practising.

I would also like to refer to more advanced
practices. When it comes to the question of lead and
whether lead will be leached into the water, starting in
1978 we banned lead pipes. When compared to the 1970s
in the UK and the 1980s in the US, we acted much
earlier, and the alkaline degree, the pH value is 8.2 to
8.8, higher than the 8.0 to 8.5 laid down by the WHO.

In this way we can prevent metals being more easily
leached into the water.

Secondly, we have paid attention to overseas
practices. We have also got a system for licensed
plumbers, so that professionals will be overseeing the
projects. But then, for the majority of the countries,
they have also used a self-regulatory system, to make
sure that the works are up to the required standards.

In Hong Kong, upon completion of each project, we will

send somebody to go to the site to exercise our
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monitoring role. But of course we have said that we
cannot replace the work of the stakeholders.

After the building work has been completed, the
majority of them will get samples to check for the heavy
metals. If the water supply system can be constructed
in line with the WWO, even after that we have to be sure
about the post-completion maintenance and cleansing.
According to the law, the duty rests with the consumer,
but still, we have been adopting a multipronged approach
to assist and monitor the maintenance work.

I would like to go into that by way of three points.
In 2002, we have been launching a scheme. We changed
the name of that scheme later on. It is now call
Quality Water Supply Scheme for Buildings. It was
called the FWPQMRS. We understand that 45 per cent of
the domestic users are being covered. As of December
last year, we have upgraded it to version 2.0 and we
have included four heavy metals: lead, chromium, cadmium
and also nickel. The WSD has been monitoring
continuously the quality of the water. Every year,
16,000 sets of water samples have been drawn, for
chemical and bacteriological examinations.

Given a population of 7 million, the WHO has only
asked for about 2,000 samples only.

Thirdly, when we receive a complaint from
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a consumer, we would seriously look into that. If there
are irregularities in the water supply system, we will
carry out investigation and will ask the consumer to
make necessary improvements.

After this incident of contaminated water, the WSD
has attached importance to the water. We instantly set
up a task force in the WSD, to look into the cause, and
that is, it is caused by leaded soldering material in
the joints. We also tie in with the efforts of other
government departments. We took water samples, to test
if the water quality is up to a safe standard. We have
also done this for public rental housing estates,
kindergartens and also welfare facilities. We took more
than 10,000 samples and we asked Government Laboratory
to carry out the tests.

If you look at the public rental housing estates, if
you look at the entire sample set, you can tell that
99 per cent of the samples conformed to the WHO 2005
criteria. If you look at the post-2005 estates, then
the relevant percentage is 1998 per cent. For
kindergarten samples, 100 per cent of them conformed to
the WHO standards.

When we discovered that there were cases in PRHs
with lead contamination, we would provide safe drinking

water. We explained to the residents the findings of
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the test and also explained to them how we are going to
supply drinking water. And together with other
departments we have been providing subsidy in tariff and
effluent charges. We have also published public
education leaflets and other materials, to inform the
public on how to prevent excessive lead being found in
drinking water and what they should do if they have
contamination of water by lead.

Chairman, the WSD attaches as lot of importance to
the lead in water incident. We hope the Commission can
complete its work as soon as possible. I know a moment
ago there was some discussion on the late submission of
the statements from my department. For this, I would
like to offer my apologies. We would continue to act in
a most professional manner in assisting the Commission's
work. When the Commission completes its work and if it
has any recommendations, we will take serious efforts to
implement that.

In the Policy Agenda 2016, we have already set out
that we would step up internal monitoring of waterworks.
For example, we are going to test four heavy metals in
our samples, including lead, and we are also going to
test for the presence of lead in soldering joints. We
are also going to look into overseas experience in

respect of lead contamination, and we are also going to
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look at the WWO and the relevant standards and
specifications, with a view to enhancing our work and
monitoring. And also, together with the trade, we have
been trying to achieve continuous improvement, so as to
maintain the supply of quality and safe drinking water
to our consumers.

DR WONG: No further questions.

MR KHAW: (Chinese spoken).

CHAIRMAN: Thank you. Let's take a 20-minute break.

(11.20 am)

(A short adjournment)
(11.41 am)
Cross—-examination by MR KHAW

MR KHAW: Mr Lam, your statement started with the following.
That is, your statement represents the Water Supplies
Department, and it is from a higher level, that is the
policy level.

I understand that the details, a lot of them can be
found in the statements of your colleagues, so I may
have to follow up with your colleagues.

I would also like to talk about your policies as
well as how policies have been devised.

Mr Lam, in your witness statement, you have said
that you have been holding the position of director of

Water Supplies since November 2013. When did you join
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the department?

A. As a member of the WSD? 13 November 2013.

Q. What about before that?

A. For the six years before joining the WSD, I was with the
Development Bureau.

Q. Let me talk about the broad principles. For the water
supply system, there are different stakeholders. The
WSD is one of them. Let's not talk about the roles to
be played by individual stakeholders. I think you would
agree with me that for the WSD, their first and foremost
duty is to ensure that the water is safe, and also you
have to assure the water quality?

A. Yes. I have said we are very concerned about the safety
of drinking water.

Q. What about the public confidence in drinking water?

I think you have also said that it is of foremost
importance to you as well?

A. Yes. In 2016, in the Policy Agenda, this has been set
out very clearly. Public confidence in drinking water
is important, so we have decided to adopt a number of
measures to enhance our monitoring work.

Q. All right. Understood.

For the WSD, for you to assure the quality and
safety of water, you have to look at the international

standards; I think this is known to everybody.
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A. Yes. In my supplementary remarks, I have said that when

we devise a safe water supply system, we will be making

reference to WHO Guidelines. We will also draw

reference from international practices.

If I may supplement, when it comes to the safety of

drinking water, the current rules and regulations have

already said that for the water supplied by the WSD, in

1994-1995 we pledged that we would follow the WHO

requirements. But then, when it comes to the inside

service of the private sector, we play the role of

a regulator, because we are not the supplier.

We focus on two areas, and indeed we require each

and every stakeholder to do their own part, in

particular, when it comes to the maintenance stage. In

the past 10-20 years, especially after the year 2000, we

have begun to be concerned about water quality in

private installations, and there was a problem with

contamination. We have this Quality Water Supply Scheme

for Buildings, to encourage consumers and property

management people to properly maintain their water

facilities.

CHAIRMAN: Let me put a simple question to you. Do you

agree that you have a duty to ensure the drinking water

consumed by the Hong Kong public is safe?

A. As I have stated in my supplementary statement,
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two parts.

CHAIRMAN: 1In other words, when it comes to the WSD ensuring
safe drinking water for the public, you mean you are
responsible for the part before the inside service
system?

A. Up to the boundary of the relevant lot. We also hope
that the inside service will be up to a certain
standard. This has always been our work objective. But
there's a constraint to what we can assure when it comes
to internal or inside service. We cannot take the place
of the behaviour of the consumers, and I have said we
can only do three things that I have set out to help the
consumer, users, to comply with the relevant standards.

CHAIRMAN: So you mean the consumer would also have to play
a part?

A. Yes, i1if we look at the law, but we have a duty to help
the consumer to maintain their water supply facilities.

MR KHAW: On the part of the WSD, you have certain
specifications and standards which you would like to
achieve and adhere to. If there's an incident outside
Hong Kong, you certainly would have a duty to have
a look, to see if there are deficiencies on our part;
right?

A. Yes. We have some duties to discharge. On water

quality, an important organisation in this regard is the
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WHO. If there are major water quality incidents in
other countries, we have a duty to know and to ask
ourselves whether we need to make certain improvements.

Q. If there's a problem in another country with respect to
the water supply systems and improvements would require
legislative amendments, you are also duty-bound to look
into those as well; right?

A. Well, that's a question of the causal relationship. As
you have said, in another country, they may need to
amend their law in the wake of a major incident, and
I believe the WHO would issue notices to inform all
countries concerned that some enhanced measures will be
called for.

As regards whether it would take the form of
legislative amendments -- well, it depends, because
sometimes things can be done outside the law.

CHAIRMAN: Sorry, let me ask a question first. What you are
saying, that is, if the WHO doesn't inform you, you
don't feel there is a problem out there?

A. I was just highlighting that in terms of water quality,
we are very concerned about whether the WHO has got
anything to say, and through other channels we can also
know whether there are matters on water quality that we
need to pay attention to.

The WHO is an important channel for us, but there
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are other channels. Our colleagues working on water
quality would also pay attention to what is happening in
other countries, whether there are water quality
incidents in those countries. But if there are major
incidents, of course the WHO would be an important
information channel, but we also have other colleagues
working on water sample tests and water quality tests.

CHAIRMAN: Apart from the WHO, in the WSD you have other
people looking around, paying attention to what's
happening in other countries?

A. Well, you can put it like that. There are other
channels. For example, we have people attending
conferences in other countries, we have people reading
journals and publications. But there are constraints.
But what I am saying is that we would do our best to
understand what is happening around the world. As the
chairman puts it, the WHO is an important organisation.

CHAIRMAN: It doesn't have to be the WHO. What about the
recent US water quality incident? Has the WHO informed
you of that?

A. Apart from the WHO, we are aware of the recent US
incident.

CHAIRMAN: So you shouldn't say that you would know if the
WHO has notified you; you should say the WSD has got

people paying attention to what's happening outside
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Hong Kong.
A. Right.

MR KHAW: You have the R&D division. Please refer to C21
and I would like you to look at a number of paragraphs.

C21, page 18919.

A. Yes.
Q. "(In English) Overview of R&D work by different
disciplines", including " (In English) Civil engineering

discipline", paragraph 5 of page 18919. Also,
page 18920, there's the water science discipline, Water
Science Division.

The division will carry out some research in respect
of WHO information, and also there's the mechanical and
electrical engineering discipline, about technical
matters.

Paragraph 12:

"(Partially in English) On top of the above, WSD
also keeps itself updated on the latest technology and
enriches its knowledge of overseas developments and
international practices in the water industry "

It's done through what you have told us:
participation in conferences, experience sharing,
interaction with people outside Hong Kong, international

journals, magazines and publications, arrangement of

technology transfer workshops.
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So when it comes to knowing or getting access to
overseas experience and practice, which division or
divisions in the WSD will be responsible for that?

A. You have referred to 18919, paragraph 4. No, it's
18918, paragraph 3. There are a number of disciplines.
So we have to look at the discipline when we answer the
question.

For civil engineering discipline, we depend on civil
engineering professional colleagues, that will interact
with overseas experts. If it's about E&M, it's another
discipline. So it will not just be the job of one
discipline to help the WSD in understanding or in having
exchanges with overseas countries.

Q. Let's have a look at paragraph 13, page 18922:

"(In English) Through the above channels and
internet research conducted as and when necessary, WSD
maintains its alertness to significant internationally
resonant water quality issues."

So you have people doing internet research from time
to time. By "internet research", which division will be
doing this? In respect of water quality matters in
other countries, which team, which colleague?

A. If it is about water quality, it will be the Water
Science Division. Page 18920, paragraph 9. If it's

about water quality, then it's them.
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Q.

If you want to look into overseas incidents or you want
to have people sharing experience with you, then the
liaison and the internet research will be done by the
Water Science Division?

If we are aware of certain water quality incidents in
other countries, then the Water Science Division will
take the necessary follow-up action.

Apart from water quality matters, let's say if in
another country there's a problem with water supply or
water quality necessitating legislative amendments, do
you have anyone monitoring such matters?

I don't know if I understand your question correctly.
If there's an incident in another country and that
country amends its law or does not want to amend the
law, then will we be looking into the incident and
decide whether we should amend our law?

Well, if there's an incident and then subsequently there
were legislative amendments, do you have colleagues
monitoring the trend and decide whether we should amend
our laws?

I am not sure, but my estimate, my guesstimate, is that
if there's an incident in another country, we will take
some follow-up action to look into that. But are we
going to look into their legislative amendments?

I don't think that would be done. We will look at the
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nature of the incident, to see if we need to take any
follow-up action, whether there's anything for us to
learn from that experience.

Q. When I asked the Housing Authority witnesses, I put
questions to them concerning overseas experience,
Scotland, Wales, the US, and problems involving the
water supply system in those countries, and some are
related to soldering materials.

I would like to refer you to a number of documents
and then I have some questions for you. Let's have Al,
page 134. This is not a journal or very sophisticated
journal. This is just a news report from the BBC,
concerning Scotland. They had an incident of lead
contamination. Please look at page 144.

There's a company here. It's one of the biggest
plumbing businesses in Scotland. It's called
Worthingway.

Its representative says:

"(Partially in English) Basically there's two
solders, they produce lead-free solder for use on the
water system in the house, and they supply leaded solder
for use on heating systems. One of our operatives used
the wrong solder on the water side."

So if the wrong solder, ie leaded solder, is used,

the water system would be adversely affected.
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Please look at page 145. The last paragraph, the
reporter says:

"(In English) But given the results of our own
random survey, and that of Greater Glasgow Health Board
it's clear that Worthingway were by no means alone in
illegally using leaded solder. And when you think that
19,000 new homes are built in Scotland each year the
scale of the problem could be enormous."

It went on to say:

"(In English) I think it's probably much more
widespread. We don't have any reason to suggest that
it's simply a Glasgow problem. But here we have
evidence that many different plumbing subcontractors,
and many different builders are involved with this
problem.

And we know that these plumbing contractors and
builders work across the country. So there's no reason
to think that only when they work in Glasgow are they
more likely to use leaded solder.”

It went on. The reporter said:

"(Partially in English) Like the Plumbers Federation
Helene Irvine wants leaded solder to be banned so the
financial temptations of using it are taken out of the
equation. Germany and Holland banned it more than

20 years ago.

- 34 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 49

The UK government committed itself to a ban back in
1992, but as yet hasn't done so. The Scottish Executive
promised a nationwide survey after the Calder Gardens
scandal. It still hasn't happened."

So it appears that it brings out a very important
point. That is, for leaded solder, it will have
an impact on the supply of drinking water. It has also
said that perhaps it should be considered that there
should be an overall ban on the use of leaded solder.

So that's what happened in year 2000, there was this
interview by the BBC, bringing out this issue.

Mr Lam, I think before the discovery of lead in
water incident, you weren't aware of it?

A. No.

Q. I think this is quite important for the findings. 1In
the same bundle, page 235, it says that ultimately,
finally, in the first and second paragraphs:

"(Partially in English) The study confirms that lead
solder misuse in new house construction is a common
problem throughout Scotland. The Scottish New Homes
Lead Survey (stage 1) identified 99 houses (15 per cent)
from a random sample of 661 homes completed between 1997
and 2000 with excess lead levels in the water supply
consistent with the use of lead solder on the copper

plumbing system."
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In the following paragraph, the same problem has
been outlined, that is lead solder is quite a serious
problem.

Let's turn to page 236. It brings on the point
about WHO:

"(In English) This is of importance given that the
rationale for adopting this WHO derived lower guideline
value is specifically to prevent children from being
exposed to levels of lead sufficient to cause
bicaccumulation in soft tissues such as the brain and
storage in other sites such as bones and teeth. This
survey therefore provides justification for the need to
consider how best to advise occupants of new houses on
the safe use of tap water for human consumption."

What follows is the same point; there should be more
measures to make sure that the existing ban on lead
solder is enforced and provides evidence of the need to
examine other options in order to prevent the misuse of
lead solder on a permanent basis. In other words, it is
hoped that the problem should be eradicated once and for
all.

So this is the investigation carried out by the
government after the discovery. This is the conclusion
and the recommendations.

Other than the conclusion, I think there is one
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other point that has been brought out. That's about the
change of the regulation. Page 159 in Al, please.

Let's go to page 259 of Al first.

I have just referred to the Scottish investigation.
That's the stage 1 result. Here, the last paragraph of
page 259:

"(Partially in English) On the basis of the stage 1
results, the [relevant department] initiated a publicity
campaign designed to alert consumers to the risks of
lead in drinking water. Changes were also made to the
Water Byelaws, to increase the penalty for contravening
the ban on the use of lead, including leaded solder, on
domestic water plumbing systems."

In other words, it says here that upon completion of
the investigation, there has been amendment to the law.
That is, for the Water Byelaws it was found necessary to
increase the penalty for contravening the ban on the use
of lead, so the offenders should receive a heavier
penalty.

Lastly, I would like to invite you to look at the
problem in Wales. Al, page 195. A similar problem in
Wales.

"(Partially in English) This incident highlights
that some property developers of new houses continue to

use lead solder in the plumbing of drinking water pipes,
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despite its use for this purpose being illegal. Lead
solder is easily available, being sold in most DIY
stores, and its use is not illegal for central heating
pipes. It is also less expensive than the legal
alternative by [a particular per cent] per roll. Water
pipes are not fully covered in the building
regulations "

Further down, if we move on to the second as well as
the third paragraphs, it should receive our attention
here:

"(Partially in English) Following the work done by
the Scottish Centre for Infection and Environmental
Health in 2003 [that is the stage 2 investigation we
just read a moment ago], the issue of the use of lead
solder in the plumbing of new homes was highlighted as
an important public health issue. New housing
developments are popular with families with young
children, and the [authority] highlighted that high lead
water levels owing to this cause represents an avoidable
and unacceptably high source of lead for vulnerable
people such as young children and pregnant women. There
needs to be consideration by local authorities as to
their inspection and monitoring strategies for lead, not
only in new housing developments but in schools,

childcare centres and other children's settings. This
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is a priority of the Children's Environment and Health
Action Plan. This is particularly important in
anticipation of the revised drinking water quality
standard for lead that will come into force in 2013."

So it brings out the significance of the problem and
it should be regarded as a priority task.

"(Partially in English) This incident did not come
to light as a result of routine monitoring but as
a result of the investigation of an unrelated complaint
by a resident. Following this complaint and
opportunistic testing, the extent of the problem was
greater than first anticipated. As a direct result of
this incident, [the water authority] has now included in
its routine inspections of newly built properties
a 'lead check' swab test for the detection of lead
solder on the drinking water plumbing and services and
continues to carry out random lead sampling on new
developments."

Again, the conclusion is that as far as lead solder
is concerned, it has been identified as an important
health hazard, and it requires attention. There should
be more communication and assessment, and departments
should communicate more with each other. So many issues
have been brought up, and they talk about a lead check

swab test.
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Mr Lam, before the discovery of lead in water, have
you heard about the lead check swab test?
A. I myself didn't. Maybe my colleagues.
Q. So in Scotland and in Wales, they have detected the
problem. In your colleague's statement, that is

Mr Chau's statement, page 18928, paragraph 31, he tried

to explain why those two incidents had not attracted the

attention of the WSD:
"(In English) To the understanding of WSD, these

2 incidents at Scotland and Wales were regarded as local

news only, without leading to (i) major reporting in

leading international magazines and/or journals
published by international water associations and
professional institutions; (ii) widespread attention of
leading international organisations, including the WHO,
one of whose essential functions is global co-ordination
and communication in respect of significant health
issues "

He goes on to say:

"(In English) The Scottish event could not be
located in any headline or feature stories in leading
international journals and magazines "

For the Welsh event, in paragraph 33, it "could not

be located in any headline or feature stories in

relevant leading magazines/journals subscribed by WSD."
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So here what you are saying is for the journals or
magazines that you have subscribed, nothing of that sort
has been mentioned therein and the WHO has neither.

My question is, information like this pertaining to
Scotland and Wales -- well, in fact the lawyers' team
representing the COI used a very simple search engine
and we were able to get at the information. To us, we
believe it is an important matter for quality of
drinking water, but it appears that at that time you
didn't pay much attention.

So my question is, would you agree that when it
comes to the gathering of information, there has been
inadequacies?

A. Well, when we become aware of an incident -- well, there
are different kinds of metals. If we know there is
an incident about a particular metal and then you work
on it as a theme, vis-a-vis 90-plus parameters, under
the WHO framework, they are different. I believe that
currently the colleagues' network would be such that
they would pay attention to possible water quality
incidents, so it will be quality incident based. But if
you just base on the parameters, I think both at the
time and currently, I don't think we would pay special
attention to this.

When something happens, we will study the matter.
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So if you want to know whether the system has got some
inadequacies, it depends on whether that incident has
been detected. Otherwise, it will be lacking a focus if
we simply surf the internet.

Then my understanding -- I don't know whether it is
correct or not -- but so far as the incident is
Scotland, I think even Wales wasn't quite aware of that
incident. I understand that for the UK expert that we
liaised with, they didn't have any major measures as
a result of such incidents. In Wales, when they have to
check their newly completed homes, it is said that they
carry out a lead check. I am not sure whether this will
be done for each and every newly completed home. My
understanding is that in Scotland, what happened took
place in Glasgow, but I don't think that they are taking
water samples to check for lead. We will be regularly
reviewing our own system. But I have also noted that in
Scotland or in Wales, something happened. Before the
discovery of lead in water incident, our department
weren't aware of that.

Q. So, at that time, the WSD did not look into these
incidents of Wales and Scotland. Now we have
an incident here. Have you reviewed your R&D to look at
the breadth of your survey, to see whether you should

monitor overseas experience more extensively?
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A.

Actually, we have a very wide scope in R&D. If you look
at water quality, we look at our system to see whether
we should enhance anything. For the time being, our
system is working, but I have reminded our colleagues to
pay particular attention to water quality incidents. As
I've said, the WHO is one of the important organisations
with which we need to step up our liaison.
Actually, Mr Chau's statement, paragraph 33, offers
another point, and that is why they omitted to pay
attention to the Wales incident. It's about the Journal
of Environmental Health Research, published by the
Chartered Institute of Environmental Health. It says:
"(In English) WSD understands that the said journal
covers a range of issues in the field of public and
environmental health, such as occupational health and
safety, environmental protection, health promotion,
housing and health, public health and epidemiology,
environmental health education, food safety,
environmental health management and policy,
environmental health law and practice, sustainability
and methodological issues arising from the design and
conduct of studies et cetera. Given the considerable
difference in focus of this journal and WSD's duties,
WSD has not subscribed to the concerned journal."

As I see it, it says that the journey covers a very
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wide range of issues, and your department has not
subscribed to the journal. But there are topics such as
environmental health, housing and health; they are all
matters that you need to pay attention to?

A. There are many journals published around the world. We
would focus more on those with subjects that we want to
pay attention to. There are many journals like this.

So we need to be focused.
At that time -- well, the colleague might think that
it covered so many issues, so we would go for others.

CHAIRMAN: How many people do you have in R&D?

A. Not many.

CHATIRMAN: How many?

A. As I have said, there are different disciplines in Water
Science. We have one to two working on a part-time
basis. If we are talking about civil engineering, two
to three colleagues. They have other duties to attend
to. On E&M, one to two colleagues as well.

CHAIRMAN: Water quality, one to two week, part-time people?

A. Yes. They have other duties.

CHAIRMAN: How much time is spent on R&D for these part-time
colleagues?

A. I think R&D should cover research.

CHAIRMAN: I don't know. You tell me. That's why I asked

you this question.
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A. Well, the one in the Water Science Division is not
really doing R&D. In the development branch --

CHAIRMAN: Well, that's in one of the witness statements
from your department, talking about R&D. I'm not
working in the WSD.

So one or two people on water quality, they also
have other duties. If there is spare time, they would
be reading journals; is that what you are telling us?

A. No. Let me try to explain. I don't know the specifics.
The Water Science Division has a wide range of
responsibilities. They will pay attention to whether
there are water quality problems in other countries.
They don't have an R&D unit as such. We are talking
about R&D work. Some colleagues will be dedicated more
to this and some other colleagues would, in their daily
work, in having exchanges with other organisations, pay
attention to such matters, and when there's an incident,
they would bring it up with their supervisors.

CHAIRMAN: What about the colleagues working in the Water
Science Division?

A. Give me a second to find the records.

Water Science Division, approximately, dedicated
people —-- we have scores of people.

CHAIRMAN: How many? How many? Tens?

A. It's within the relevant branch, together with the civil
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engineering people, for the entire development branch,
we have 60 professional colleagues. I would guess it's
half of that number.

CHAIRMAN: So you cannot give me the answer here and now?

Is it fair for me to say this. In fact, there's no
dedicated staff working on this side of work, the
so-called research or R&D. It's just that if -- Jjust
like lawyers, I think it's like lawyers -- if you want
to read up a piece of legislation, you look at overseas
laws for reference.

A. For water science, it's a specialised field for
chemists. I don't have a dedicated unit just for R&D,
that's correct, but we have asked our colleagues to pay
attention to water incidents elsewhere.

I want to make three more points. When we look at
water quality, we don't just read overseas news reports.
We have also people dealing with complaints from people
in Hong Kong. Because in many overseas incidents, they
all started with complaints from individual residents.
So, when we have knowledge about that, we would ask our
Water Science Division people to conduct a study.

CHAIRMAN: Before the lead in water incident in July 2015 in
Hong Kong, had the WSD received any news that in other
countries there had been problems with the use of leaded

solder?
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A. I didn't know personally, and neither did those in the
management. But when there was a serious incident, our
colleagues would inform us. Before July 2015, we had
not heard about serious incidents of using unauthorised
solder, illegally.

CHAIRMAN: So, before July 2015, as far as the WSD was
concerned, it did not know that in other places there
had been incidents involving the use of leaded solder
leading to the water quality problem for residents
there?

A. I myself or my colleagues in the management did not
receive any such information.

CHAIRMAN: Were there people in the WSD who know?

A. What I can say is if the WSD colleagues are aware of
serious incidents like those, they would have informed
senior management and we would have known. In other
words, we didn't know.

CHAIRMAN: We know that in 1998 -- we have heard from the
trade association -- where can we find it? About the
notice, we heard from the Hong Kong Plumbing & Sanitary
Ware Trade Association Ltd, issuing notice to their
members. Do you know why they did that?

A. We were not aware of that. Can I have a look at the
relevant document?

MR KHAW: Page 93.
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A. If the gquestion is why they issued this document,
I don't think I can give you an answer.
CHAIRMAN: Neither could they remember why.

You are here representing the WSD so I want to ask
you —-- now we know that in 1998, they issued this
circular notice to their members, and you don't know why
they did it?

A. Well, we were not aware of this circular notice.

CHAIRMAN: All right. In 2001, ACQWS -- is it ACQWS? 2001,
there's a paper No. 7, in 2001, which states that there
was internet research of US and UK and they found
something. I believe you have read that document. So
can you offer any explanation for the 2001 document?

A. I did try to understand what it was about with my
colleagues, and the focus and the emphasis of the paper.

CHAIRMAN: Well, we know the emphasis or the salient points.
Don't waste time on this. We know that it's about
turbid water. But according to the minutes, it states
that they were able to find such issues and information
just simply by internet research. So that's why I was
asking you, is it the case that the WSD was not aware of
problems with lead solder prior to 20017

A. If I understand your question correctly, you were asking
whether, before July 2015, we were aware of the illegal

use of solder in --
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CHAIRMAN: Well, I don't know whether it's illegal or not.
I didn't use the word "illegal". I just asked whether
you were aware of the use of leaded solder -- I didn't
say whether it's legal or illegal.

A. For the 2001 document, if I remember correctly, there's
a paragraph on a study carried out back then. It was
internet research, and it was found that in the UK and
US, they used lead pipes extensively earlier on. It was
in an early stage of development and leaded pipes and
leaded solder were permitted.

CHAIRMAN: 2001, the development stage? You call it
an early stage?

A. Do we have paper 77

COMMISSIONER LAI: Yes. I think we can show it.

MR KHAW: Y1, page 5.

A. Paragraph 9 of No. 7 -- allow me to read it out in
English.

"(In English) In the UK and USA, the most common
problem is the presence of lead in water since during
their development stage, lead pipes and lead-soldered
copper pipes were widely used.”

For development stage, it talks about the
development stage in the UK and the USA.

CHAIRMAN: What did you say?

A. The development stage. It means, when they were
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developing the plumbing industry -- that is, in the
early days when they developed, they used lead pipes and
also leaded solder. So, for development stage, we have
asked our colleagues. They were talking about the early
stage, that is before -- the 1970s or the 1980s.

So, later on, say for example in 1970, the UK banned
the use of lead pipes, and for the USA, the 1980s. For
the use of leaded solder, it would be in the years
1986-87. So they were talk about the earlier stage.

Our understanding of the early stage means that they
used lead pipes.

COMMISSIONER LAI: I think, "since during their development
stage", rather than "during their development stage".
CHAIRMAN: Would it be talking about the construction of the

houses?

COMMISSIONER LAI: Not "during their development stage" but
"since during their development stage".

A. I tried to understand it with the colleague writing this
paper. In the early stage of the UK and USA, they used
lead pipes.

COMMISSIONER LAI: No, no. Since development, up to that
stage, lead pipes and leaded soldered copper pipes were
widely used, not just during the development stage but
since development, this problem has been with them, and

then the solution aligned with prohibiting the chemical
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additives.
A. "Since during their development stage", I think at that

time the most common problem was lead. That's because
in the early development stage, they used lead pipes and
also leaded solder materials. I think that's how we

understood it from that colleague.

CHAIRMAN: Your answer is the same. If, despite

paragraph 9, you of the WSD have said that prior to July
2015, you weren't aware of the issue of lead solder --
in the US and the UK, you weren't aware of that; do you
mean that?
It is already written here. That is, of course some
colleagues knew it. That is, when this paper was drawn
up, they were aware of the use of lead pipes and leaded
solder in overseas countries, but then at that time
those countries permitted the use of such of materials.
Like in Hong Kong, I think before 1983-84, the
solder could contain 50 per cent lead. So, at that

time, we didn't feel that there was a major issue.

CHAIRMAN: I have some questions. We understand that in

2001, the VTC deleted from their syllabus concerning tin
lead solder. So the VTC syllabus -- 2001, the VTC
syllabus -- maybe I can -- do I remember it correctly?
In 2001 and 2004 -- prior to that, according to the VTC,

we have been told that they have always been talking
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about tin-lead solders, because they are sort of taking
it out from the additions in the 1980s, all the way up
to 2001 when all of a sudden the VTC decided against
that, because they had to change -- so 2001.

Were you aware that in the year 2001, the VTC
obviously —-- leaded solder was no longer permitted, so
they had to change the syllabus.

A. I am not aware of this piece of information, but then,
if I remember it correctly, it was in 1987 that the law
said that lead-free solder should be used. We relied on
the VTC to train the licensed plumbers. Therefore, in
their syllabus, they would follow this up.

CHAIRMAN: The Training Council. But then the WSD sits on
the board concerning the syllabus; right?

A. Yes. As I have said, we have colleagues with them. I'm
not sure whether there was this happening in the year
2001.

CHAIRMAN: So you don't know why the VTC had to make
a change?

A. I myself didn't know.

CHAIRMAN: The minutes for 2004, somebody expressed concern.

MR KHAW: W1, page 482.

CHATIRMAN: Somebody expressed concern.

A. Yes, I see it.
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CHAIRMAN: I think you know this. Mr Ho was an engineer
from the WSD. That is for 2004.

A. In 2004, after the discovery of lead in water, I learned
from my colleagues that in the year 2004, somebody
attended a VTC meeting. For the one in 2001, I don't
know. In 2004, it was said that for potable water
supply, according to the rules, the licensed plumbers
should be taught that they have to pay attention to the
solder materials.

The question I want to ask is that prior to July
2015, there were numerous opportunities for the WSD to
learn that leaded solder would cause problems with the
quality of water, that would be crucial to that?

A. Yes. We were very concerned about the safety of
drinking water. Of course, if the water pipes at the
installations had their specifications enhanced or
changed, then the relevant rules and regulations will
make it clear. We believe that the industry was aware
of it.

I understand that the Housing Department, round
about the year 2000, in their contract documents they
have made a change.

CHAIRMAN: Yes, I know it. What I mean is that in
2001-2004 -- to be frank, in 2014-2015, according to the

Hong Kong Plumbing and Sanitary Ware Trade Association,
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they issued the document again, saying that leaded
solder would be a problem.

A. Sorry —-

CHAIRMAN: I can't recall the page.

COMMISSIONER LAI: There was a journal. That is the annual
report.

CHAIRMAN: That is from the Hong Kong Plumbing and Sanitary
Ware Trade Association.

A. For 2014-2015, I think they were talking about the
fittings. It is said that they learned from overseas
experience that there would be the trend to tighten up
the lead content. So they were concerned.

CHAIRMAN: 2015. "Lead Free Water Supply".

A. For the one in 2015, I am reading it. That's about the
fittings.

CHAIRMAN: Yes, I know. For the US Safe Drinking Water
Act -- well, to be frank, it has been in place for many
years, and the purpose of which is to reduce the content
of lead in water. That's one of the reasons. So
there's this reduction of lead content.

My point is that the WSD has had many, many
opportunities to tackle -- to handle this issue.

A. Allow me to give a reply here. Overseas, the question
of lead, as paper No. 7 of the Advisory Committee --

well, our understanding is that lead was found in their
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water because all along they had permitted the use of
lead pipes as well as leaded solder.

This is very different from the case in Hong Kong.
Let me compare three sets of figures. In about 1938, we
started to ban the use of lead pipes, but in the US and
the UK, they did so respectively in the 1970s and 1980s.
Therefore, for the impact on water quality, I don't
think the situation is comparable. In overseas
countries, for many old buildings, they still have lead
pipes. They have to rely on their own ways; say, for
example, using the addition of chemicals in the

treatment plants.

CHAIRMAN: I just want to know whether you mean that prior

A.

to July 2015, the WSD, since you represent the WSD --
the WSD's position is that you have never regarded
excessive lead in water was an issue.

We don't think that it was a high risk.

CHAIRMAN: Did you carry out a risk assessment?

A.

We looked at the objective facts. Just now, you
referred to lead found in overseas water. That's mainly
because of the use of lead pipes. But in Hong Kong, for
the quality of our water, when compared with the WHO
Guidelines, our pH value is higher, that is 8.2 to 8.8.
This will reduce the risk of lead and other heavy metals

being released into water.
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CHAIRMAN: Have you done this or have you ever considered
it?

A. We haven't quantified it, but we believe that.

CHAIRMAN: But have you ever carried out any risk assessment
of heavy metals, any of the heavy metals, any of them?

A. Regarding heavy metals, in 1995 we knew that water
quality was affected by galvanised iron pipes. We
conducted some studies. Also, in 1987 and 1989, we
conducted studies to decide whether GI pipes should
continue to be allowed.

So, if you ask whether we have conducted any study

of metal release into water, yes, we did.

CHAIRMAN: So once, one study, concerning GI pipes and the
rust problem?

A. Many residents complained.

CHAIRMAN: We understand that problem. No need to repeat.

A. Well, we have channels to understand where there are
problems. We have a system to monitor the risk and also
to handle complaints. The WHO Guidelines cover many
metals. Before the lead in water incident, we did not
realise that lead-contaminated water has a high risk.

We had a system to ensure proper monitoring.

According to the WHO Guidelines, the important thing is
to monitor the use of materials. That is to say, during

the construction phase --
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CHAIRMAN: I understand that as well. Why do you still use
864, the Waterworks Ordinance, still use the British
Standards, since the monitoring and use of material is
SO important?

A. You mean BS 8647

CHAIRMAN: Yes.

A. Well, we follow the latest British Standards. The
latest one should be BS 1254.

CHAIRMAN: I know your regulation. The regulation talks
about the latest British Standard. Why didn't you
change the law?

A. You mean the regulations? In the schedule to the
regulations, we set out the British Standards, but there
are amendments from time to time. You could have done
away with the details, because you put in the details
and you didn't change them.

The British Standards were put in the regulation in
the prior exercise, and the regulation says the latest
British Standards should be complied with.

CHAIRMAN: Sorry, Director. Yes, there are many British
Standards concerning many materials, but not many are
contained in your regulations.

A. Well, if the regulations specify certain British
Standards, where there are changes to the British

Standards, we may not change the regulations because it
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requires legislative approval from LegCo.

CHAIRMAN: If you introduce an amendment to the regulations,
with regard to British Standards, I don't think any
member would filibuster for that purpose.

A. Generally, we will follow the latest British Standards.
If there are new standards, we follow the new standards.
In our communication with the trade, we also talk about
the British Standards that we adopt.

CHAIRMAN: Now it's the other way around. It's the trade
telling you what they are doing. If you look at the
1998 circular, they told you where there were problems.
In 2014, the trade told you that there were problems.

In 2015, they told you there were problems.

A. 2014 -- you are referring to the two documents from the
association?

CHATIRMAN: Yes.

A. They were referring to overseas experience.

CHAIRMAN: Well, if you are very narrow-minded about this,
I can't help you, but I think that's the right thing to
do.

Director, I know you became the director in 2013,
but you represent the WSD. That's why I have to ask you
questions.

A. Maybe I can say something about the documents issued in

2014 and 2015. The trade association, Hong Kong
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Plumbing and Sanitary Ware Trade Association, was mainly
referring to the case of the US. Then, for certain
fittings, in respect of lead content, new requirements
were introduced, and they were expressing concerns
whether Hong Kong would be following the new
requirements, because they were supplying major fittings
and sanitaryware to Hong Kong. So that was sort of

a heads-up, a warning, to see what should be done.

CHAIRMAN: There's a technical director, technical adviser,
talking about leaded solder and not just about fittings.

A. The two documents from the trade association in 2014 and
2015 were mainly about fittings rather than solder.

MR KHAW: All right. Let's look at 2014 and 2015 documents
Wl. The 2014 paper first.

From the evidence given by the Hong Kong Plumbing
and Sanitary Ware Trade Association, this 2014 document
was distributed in their annual meeting in 2014,

a dinner party. Did you attend that?

A. 20142 I believe I attended that meeting.

Q. So you would have received this document. But what
follow-up action did you take after you had received the
document?

A. It was just an advance warning that if Hong Kong were to
follow the US latest standards, they had certain

concerns. So 1t was not our practice to follow the new
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requirements or specifications in the US. If we were to
do that, we would first of all communicate with the
trade first.

Q. It's about the use of lead-free alloy in drinking water
systems, very much like the EU. You have been saying
that you need to comply with international standards.
Do you agree that these cases should have been looked
into by the WSD?

A. Well, here, we are talking about the studies and the
measures taken by other countries. The feasibility of
doing the same in Hong Kong is not clear.

Q. I understand the UK requirements have not been updated
as a result of that. Did you share this document with
other colleagues?

A. No.

Q. So there was no follow-up action after that.

What about the 2015 document? Again, it's the
annual dinner gathering. You attended that as well?

A. Yes.

Q. The contents are about the problems caused by lead.

I would like you to look at page 98. They talk
about that starting from 2010, the US, in relation to
monitoring the lead content in the water supply system,
and there were other measures on solder and flux.

Do you know that in the US, starting from 2010, when
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it comes to the control of lead content, there were new
laws enacted?

A. I didn't know.

Q. So you received this document and there was no follow-up
action in the WSD after that?

A. Well, it was a dinner gathering, and they distributed
publications and documents like this. I would not read
the documents in great detail.

Q. So you didn't read it, read this one, in detail?

A. No.

Q. Let me follow up on one particular issue. Paragraph 9
on page 7 of paper No. 7. Let's not look at the grammar
of the paragraph. Paragraph 9 states -- it's about
lead-contaminated water; do you agree? You have talked
to the colleague who prepared this document before you
came.

Who was responsible for this paper, paper No. 772
Who wrote this?

A. There was a senior engineer who wrote this.

Q. Is he still working in the WSD?

A. Yes.

Q. Is he Mr Chan Sai Wai?

A. No, he is Chau Sai Wai.

Q. Sorry, Mr Chau Sai Wai, in his witness statement,

mentions this paper No. 7.
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Please refer to C12/1893. The first sentence of
paragraph 43:

"(Partially in English) Against the above
background, paper No. 7 was prepared with the focus of
concern on the proper maintenance and cleansing of the
plumbing system of existing buildings."

CHAIRMAN: Please wait. We haven't got there.
MR KHAW: C21, page 18932. Paragraph 43, the first
sentence:

"(In English) Against the above background, paper
No. 7 was prepared with the focus of concern on the
proper maintenance and cleansing of the plumbing system
of existing buildings."

Then let's go to paragraph 44:

"(Partially in English) The USEPA's leaflet 'Lead in
your drinking water' issued in 1993 was referred by
counsel for the Commission during the hearing on
2 November 2015. According to WSD's available records,
the said leaflet was within the research materials
leading to the preparation of paper No. 7."

Let's look at the USEPA's leaflet. Al1/399. This is
the leaflet we have been talking about. Page 399. 1It's
about the harmful effect of lead. In the middle part,
"(In English) Sources of Lead in Drinking Water":

"(In English) Lead levels in your drinking water are
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likely to be highest if [certain things happen]:

your home has copper pipes with solder ...", of
a certain age, and why is lead a problem and who would
be more seriously affected.

Then page 400:

"... the source of lead in your home's water is most
likely pipe or solder in your home's own plumbing. The
most common cause 1s corrosion, a reaction between water
and the lead pipes or solder."

Page 401, point 2 on this page:

"(Partially in English) In June 1986,

President Reagan signed amendments to the Safe Drinking
Water Act. These amendments require the use of
'lead-free' pipe, solder, and flux in the installation
or repair of any public water system, or any plumbing in
a residential or non-residential facility

Under the provisions of these amendments, solders
and flux will be considered 'lead-free' when they
contain not more than 0.2 per cent lead. Pipes and
fittings will be considered 'lead-free' ...", and so on
and so forth.

"(Partially in English) These requirements went into
effect in June 1986. The law gave state governments

until June 1988 to implement and enforce these new

limitations. Although the states have banned all use of
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lead materials in drinking water systems, such bans do
not eliminate lead contamination within existing
plumbing. Also, in enforcing the ban, some states have
continued to find illegally used lead solder in new
plumbing installations."

This document, leaflet, was in report No. 7. You
referred to this leaflet when you wrote paper No. 7 in
2000. So your colleague, I would say, understood at
that time that lead in water could be caused by solder.
So the paper was clear about this?

A. Yes, in this paper.

Q. Secondly, as to whether it was used legally or not, here
it says that if leaded solder used illegally would cause
lead in the water, so at that time your colleague should
know that illegal use of leaded solder would cause lead
in drinking water?

A. I have reservation here. I don't know whether the
colleague did read this point. When they prepared paper
No. 7, a lot of documents were read. After searching
the internet, his focus was on the discoloration and
other water quality problems.

As to whether he went into such details, and
observed this point, that is the illegal use of leaded
solder in the water supply system causing excess lead in

drinking water, I'm not sure.
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Q.

A.

But then by reading this document, and had that
colleague read this document and understood the paper,
then he would be aware of the risk, that is lead in
water could be due to use of leaded solder?
Well, this is a hypothetical question. Had the
colleague read this point, he would have observed that
there was a problem in overseas countries.

As to whether it applied to Hong Kong as well, I'm
not sure.
According to the HD's evidence, starting from the year
2000, they would like to give an additional option to
the contractors. That is, the use of copper pipes.
Were you aware?
I didn't know it before, but with this incident I became
aware.
Do you know that for the use of copper pipes in water
supply systems, prior to 2000, it was already widely
used?

Yes, I was aware of that.

MR KHAW: For the other questions, maybe I can keep them for

the afternoon?

CHAIRMAN: Yes. We will resume at 2.30 pm, after lunch.

(1.02 pm)

(The luncheon adjournment)

(2.31 pm)
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MR KHAW: Mr Lam, before the lunch break, I asked you about
the extensiveness of the use of copper pipes before
2000. You were aware of that. So, prior to 2000,
copper pipes were already used?

A. Yes, prior to the year 2000, our regulations did permit
the use of copper pipes.

Q. So you knew that it was commonly used. As to whether it
was common, it is arguable, but then it had been in use
and it was lawful.

Let's look at C21, page 18932, paragraph 43. Again,
we are talking about paper No. 7.

I want to understand your degree of participation in
this paper. Now, for the first sentence, I have read
that out to you. Starting from the third line:

"(In English) Based on the literature research at
that time, lead pipes and leaded-solder copper pipes
were widely used in the UK and USA during their
development stages and consequently the most common
problem was the presence of lead in water at the
material time. In contrast, the use of leaded pipes was
banned in Hong Kong since as early as 1938, followed by
the ban of leaded solder in 1987. Further, before the
ban of unlined GI pipes in December 1995, unlined
GI pipes were commonly used in Hong Kong for fresh water

inside service in the then existing buildings."
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Towards the end, I don't quite understand:

"(In English) Given the different historical
backgrounds, the risk of presence of lead in water in
the UK and USA had no direct application to Hong Kong."

This is how you have presented it. So you are
saying that due to the different historical backgrounds,
the risk of presence of lead in water elsewhere had no
direct application to Hong Kong.

First of all, do you agree that irrespective of the
historical backgrounds, setting aside the historical
backgrounds, now that No. 7 was drawn up and the risk of
lead in water was known, so you won't disagree that
there was this understanding?

A. You mean --

Q. At the time of the writing of No. 7.

A. Yes.

Q. You know that for the risk, one of the contributing
factors may be the use of leaded solder? I think,
during the research at that time, the question was
looked at.

A. Well, my understanding is that that paper was about the
early development stages of the UK and the USA; lead
pipes and leaded solder were permitted. Therefore, it
was widespread. Therefore, the presence of lead in

drinking water had been in existence for a long time.
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Therefore, when we look at the information, by
comparison, in the UK, the US and Canada, they had this
problem.

Q. But my question is -- you carried out research, you read
the leaflet from the USA. One of the contributing
factors of lead in drinking water was use of leaded
solder. You won't disagree; right?

A. You are correct.

Q. Prior to 2000, copper pipes had been used in water
supply system; right?

A. Yes.

Q. Don't you think that it is not right, having known all
this, and then for the USA and the UK, they had this
problem and still you are saying that it had no direct
application to Hong Kong-?

A. I think the explanation is not clear. I think the crux
of the matter is, at the time the research was carried
out, they noticed the problem. It was all because the
banning of the use of lead pipes took place much later.
So even in the 1970s and 1980s, the problem was still
widespread, but in Hong Kong, in the 1930s, we started
to ban the material, and therefore the colleagues didn't
think that there would be the problem with lead.

Had we been having the problem of lead all the time,

and in fact for the past decade we did have the
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mechanism; that is, we tried to see whether anybody from
the community had been complaining about the quality of
drinking water. And also, from the findings of the
water samples, we didn't see that there was such

a problem. And if you permit me to add a few more

words -- in Hong Kong, let me repeat this point,

Hong Kong is different from the overseas experience in
a few areas. First of all, we had banned lead pipes

a long time ago, and then the pH value of our drinking
water is different. We had a higher alkaline wvalue, and
when compared with the WHO, our pH value is 8.2 to 8.8,
but for the WHO it's 8.0 to 8.5.

CHAIRMAN: Why is it that in Hong Kong we want the pH value
to be so high?

A. I'm afraid I have no expertise to answer this question.
CHAIRMAN: No, the pH value of Hong Kong drinking water is
so high, this is to prevent the release of corrosive
metal. Now, if you say that the pipes in Hong Kong are
problem-free, it is safe, so how come we still have to

raise the pH value?

A. Let me try to answer this question. Other than the
water pipes, there are also other fittings and we do
allow the presence of metal, and such metal may be
released in minute amounts.

CHATIRMAN: What was released?
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A.

Say, for example, for copper alloys, for the existing
British Standards, we did allow for the presence of lead
up to 4 to 6 per cent. That's the case of the UK.

Then, for our water taps, we have electroplating and it

might also contain metal.

CHAIRMAN: If all along you think that there is no problem,

A.

the water quality is fine, water pipes, water fittings
are all fine, then there is no reason to raise the pH
value.

Let me supplement two points.

CHAIRMAN: How come the water in Hong Kong is so special

A.

that we need to raise the pH wvalue?

I was trying to say why. At a very early stage, for the
quality of drinking water in Hong Kong we had to raise
the pH value.

My understanding is we would like to enhance the
capacity of water pipes to withstand corrosion.

Just now we were talking about the overseas
experience. 1In overseas countries, the pH value is
different from that in Hong Kong. I want to say that
the Hong Kong situation is different from that in
overseas countries. First of all, early banning of lead
pipes, and our pH value is a little bit different.
Moreover, starting from 1982, other than licensed

plumbers, we have also asked professionals to certify
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MR

the materials of the water pipes are up to the
requirements. In the USA, UK, Canada and Australia,
basically they have got professionals like licensed
plumbers doing the work. 1In Singapore, other than more
complicated piping installation, when they need

an engineer -- by comparison, I think our risk is lower.
Moreover, we have a set of measures in the mechanism.

As mentioned in my supplementary remarks this
morning, we have been following the WHO Guidelines when
it comes to risk monitoring. When compared with other
countries, really we don't see that we are different
from others. On the other hand, our risk is in some
cases lower.

KHAW: Going back to paper No. 7 and going back to the
time when No. 7 was prepared. Overseas incidents in
which lead was found in drinking water and due to solder
containing lead -- looking back, would you agree that at
the time, your alertness was low?

Well, regarding the presence of lead in drinking water,
I think the reason was that lead pipes were allowed and
leaded solder was allowed. I think really, at that
time, there was no awareness that there would be direct
relevance to Hong Kong.

Let's take a look at the question of the inside service,

as far as the water supply system and the difference
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A.

between the two.

First of all, let me take you to your witness
statement. C19.1, page 10282.

Paragraph 12:

"(Partially in English) The WSD installations from

the collection of raw water in Hong Kong to connection

points at lot boundaries of consumers ... generally
referred to as waterworks. The supply system ... from
connection point ... to the consumers' tap is generally

referred to as the inside service."

Then you talk about the legal requirement, under the
diagram:

"(Partially in English) According to the WWO, the
custody and control of the waterworks is taken by the
WA ... whilst the custody and maintenance responsibility
rests with the agents and consumers."

So you are talking about the definition under
section 7 of the Ordinance in relation to the inside
service as well as the waterworks, and they are
different.

Now let me ask this gquestion. As far as the WSD is
concerned, it won't be your position that you say
goodbye to your responsibility when the water is
supplied up to the point of connection point?

In fact, I have said that we are also concerned about
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A.

the water supply within the inside service.

Correct. You are also concerned about the possible
problems within the inside service.

Let me say a few words here. During the construction
stage, the Water Authority has a regulatory role beyond
the connection point. The position of the law is that
of course the consumer has the duty to clean and
maintain the system, and if they see any problem they
can refer the case to us and we will follow up.
Correct. As you have mentioned in paragraph 43 of your
statement, that is page 10291, you talk about your
responsibilities: licensing the plumbers and also the
pipes and fittings are of British Standard, and then
confirmation by the authorised persons that pipes and
fittings used are installed in compliance. You also
talk about inspection and approval of the inside service
by the WA and water sample tested to be in compliance
with the specified standards.

If a consumer thinks that the quality of his
drinking water has a problem and he would like to
complain to the WSD, the WSD will follow this up; right?
You won't say this belongs to the inside service and he
had better go to the property management office; I don't
think so, correct?

In the past, we received complaints about water quality
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and we started investigation to look into the problem.

Q. All right. For water sample testing, it's done at the
connection point. Your department has offered quite
a few explanations about that. Let's look at C19.1,
page 10500, paragraph 6. Here, it says in 1994-95,
there's a pledge of your department that compliance is
up to the connection points.

Have you checked your department's records on this
point of "full compliance with the guidelines up to the
connection points"? Has there been any discussion about
this point? Why is it up to the connection points?

A. You can see the following sentence. (Chinese spoken).

CHAIRMAN: I can't hear you. Please speak up.

A. In the following sentence, it is stated that why we can
achieve this pledge: because we have full control over
the waterworks. We built them, we maintain them.

That's why we could give this pledge. Beyond the
connection points, for the inside service, relatively
speaking, we didn't have as full a control.

MR KHAW: If you look at section 12 of WWO, G1/225,
section 12, 12(1):

"... [WA], and any person authorised by him in
writing, may enter at any reasonable time, or in case of

urgency at any time, any premises to --
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(e) install, inspect, test, regulate, alter, repair
or remove any part of the waterworks or any fire service
or inside service therein."

So you had powers in respect of inside service to do
inspection. You are authorised under the Ordinance to
do this.

A. Well, 12(1), it says, "Subject to subsection (2)", so we
have to look at subsection (2). Also, in
subsection (2), there is some restriction to the power.
"Except in case of urgency", otherwise you must have the
consent of the occupier or you have to obtain a warrant.
So you cannot enter without any good reason or in any of
something other than an emergency.

Q. All right. So you make this distinction for inside
service, your compliance is up to the connection points.
Has your department had any discussion on why the
decision is made for this particular coverage?

A. You are talking about 1994 or 1995 or thereabouts?

I cannot remember whether I read anything. I believe,
back in 1994-1995, there was an open pledge made on the
water quality up to the connection points, in compliance
with the WHO standards. Prior to that, there had to be
some discussion in the WSD.

Q. You have provided us with some supplementary

information. It is said that, on average, you would
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take 160,000 water samples, on average, every year.

A. Yes.

Q. Are you talking about Water Supplies, from the Water
Supplies?

A. No.

Q. Any samples from inside service?

A. Yes.

Q. How do you decide whether the samples should be taken
from the inside service?

A. Please repeat your question.

Q. You have to take samples. It can either be from the
connection points or from the inside service. 160,000
samples, including those taken at the connection points
and those taken at the inside service. I understand why
you would not do that for connection points. For inside
service, 1f you are to take samples from inside service,
either from the residents or from the property
management office, on what basis can you ask for that?
Under what circumstances would you be asking for
sampling from these parties?

A. I think our chemist can answer the gquestion in more
detail. My understanding is that the 160,000 samples
would include samples taken at the treatment works and
not just at the connection points.

As regards samples taken at internal service, we
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have a rule to go by. We take random samples from
certain units. They will be taken for different
purposes. Some will be more microbiological, some for
physical tests or chemical tests and some for
radioactive tests.

So taken together, including those taken at the
water treatment works and plants, 160,000 is the total.

Q. So annually, you would do it randomly, or do you have
a certain regularity, certain intervals, that you would
adhere to?

A. I'm afraid I cannot answer the question. We would take
160,000 samples, and some would be from inside service.

Q. Are they provided by the consumers?

A. We took the samples. My understanding is they were not
provided by consumers. Sometimes, when we wanted to
take samples from a unit, we encountered problems. So
mainly the samples were taken from locations where we
could take the samples.

Q. So you would send someone to the consumer's unit?

A. We have to be careful. In using the "consumer", you
think the residents, but there are many types of
consumer. For example, in the toilet of a shopping
centre, it's a consumer in this sense, and if we ask the
management office for consent, we may be given consent

to take samples. We might not have to enter actually
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residents' residential units.
Have you encountered problems?
A. I know that there are problems, but --

Q. Beyond the connection point you would also take samples;

right?

A. Yes.

Q. So apart from the connection points -- if we are talking
about the tap in the consumer's unit -- you are also

concerned about the water coming out from the tap;
correct?

A. Well, we are concerned about the water quality within
inside service in three aspects. We take water samples
annually. We have 16,000 samples. According to the WHO
standards, which requires only 2,200, we are taking much
more.

Q. For newly completed buildings, you would only take water
samples from the connection points; is that correct?

A. That depends on which period you are talking about. If
you are talking about the period before 2012, basically
we will take the water sample at the connection points
to see 1f there's any problem with water quality. But
since 2012, because of the Legionnaires' disease, we
issued a notice to residents, saying that after the
inside service is completed, there's a need to do

cleansing and sanitation, but they did not know how to
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do it, so we started to take water samples not just
beyond the connection points to check the quality. And
in 2015, after the lead in water incident, the practice
has been regularised. That is, when we conduct the
acceptance test, we will take water samples from within
the inside service and test the samples for the four
metals, before we issue the certificate.

Q. So, after 2015, you changed the system, taking water
sample from inside service would be a prerequisite for
the water supply permit to be issued?

A. We also have changed the parameters.

Q. I will talk about parameters later.

In 2012, you had a problem with Legionnaires'
disease. I think it's about the Tamar Central
Government Office problem. So you did at the time
consider whether you should go to the inside service
part of the system to take samples?

A. At the time, we issued guidelines to residents, because
they did not know the extent of sanitation required, so
issued the guidelines to advise them to take water
samples from the inside service of the building and test
them for parameters.

Q. Please refer to C3, page 2215. This is a circular.
This is the one you have been talking about, that after

the exposure of the Legionnaires' disease episode, you
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issued guidelines on disinfection of fresh water inside
service.

So you were concerned about the water quality within
inside service?

A. Yes.

Q. There was no discussion -- well, you had a problem. Did
you discuss that in respect of checking fresh water
inside service? Should that be made a prerequisite for
the permit?

A. I may not be able to answer this question. I have to
check the files.

But here I wish to make a point. If you look at the
WHO standards, when it comes to microbiological
contamination, when the risks are higher it would be
reasonable to test the sample for certain parameters,
but for heavy metal contamination, according to the WHO,
we should not go by the route of relying on sample
testing, but we should do it through the monitoring of
material used.

So, at that time, we asked for certain parameters to
be tested. As for whether we discussed the question of
this should be made a prerequisite, I don't have any
file. That is the conclusion but I cannot say for sure
whether there was any discussion about this turning into

a prerequisite.
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Q. Let's look at C --

CHAIRMAN: Sorry, let me clarify a point about what you have
said.

If there are heavy metals in the water, you are
saying that you should not conduct a water sample test;
you should do material monitoring -- monitoring of
material used. So you are saying that testing the water
samples would not be very useful?

A. No, that's not what I meant. If there is a risk that
heavy metals will contaminate the drinking water, then
according to the WHO Guidelines, first of all,
consideration should be given to monitoring the
materials.

CHAIRMAN: No, no. Pause. It is when you know that heavy
metals are already contaminating the water?

A. Aware of the risk; that is a particular heavy metal will
contaminate the drinking water.

CHAIRMAN: When there is such a risk, then what would you
do? It means you can dispense with the water sample
testing?

A. We should start with more work with monitoring the
material. My understanding is that the WHO doesn't
encourage the test for heavy metals in drinking water.

CHAIRMAN: Sorry, sorry, sorry. Slow down, please.

If you already know that heavy metals are posing
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a risk to contaminate the drinking water, then there is
no need to test the water samples; right?

A. Let me say this. When it is known that heavy metals or
metals will contaminate the drinking water and pose a
risk, according to the WHO Guidelines, consideration
should first of all be given to monitoring, regulating
the materials. If it cannot be handled in this way,
then for the examination parameters for water samples,
then the metals should be included.

CHAIRMAN: Sorry. Maybe I am not clever enough to
understand you. Please say it again.

A. Sorry. This is my understanding of the WHO Guidelines.
That is, as far as risk monitoring is concerned --

CHAIRMAN: That is when you are aware of the risk, is that
the starting point?

A. It depends on the magnitude. There is always a risk of
leaching of metals into water.

When you are aware of the risk, you should first of
all consider regulating the materials.

CHAIRMAN: Sorry, stop. If you are aware of the presence of
risk, then first of all you will monitor and regulate
the materials. In other words, if you know that there
is a risk with lead, then first of all you should
control the leaded materials?

A. If it is known that there is a possibility that lead may
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be leached into the water, then, for the regulatory
measures, that should be the channel to deal with the
problem.

CHAIRMAN: Pause. Say, for example, if you know that the
components may contain lead, then first of all you want
to control the composition of the components; right?

A. Correct. We need to control the components'
composition, and then there should be a system to make
sure that the stakeholders would be following the
specifications in the procurement and installation of
the parts.

CHAIRMAN: So what you mean is when there is a risk, when
you are aware of the presence of risk; that is, there is
the possibility that, say for example, heavy metals may
contaminate the drinking water, then the first task in
relation to control -- the first thing to control is the
materials?

A. Yes. This is the WHO's requirement. In other
countries --

CHAIRMAN: Let's not go to other issues because I don't
qguite understand. Why is it that there's no need to
test the water samples?

A. You mean testing the drinking water samples for metals?

CHAIRMAN: Sorry, director, maybe I am slow, so please

repeat it.
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A. I don't gquite understand the meaning of the question.

CHAIRMAN: I am just trying to quote from your answers. You
are saying that if heavy metals may contaminate the
drinking water, then the first thing to do is to control
the materials and there is no need to test the water
samples. I don't understand this point.

A. My understanding is that the WHO's requirements are as
follows.

For the pipes and fittings, they are of different
sizes, they are of different compositions and they
contain different sorts of metals. They may all have
the possibility of releasing materials into the water,
causing contamination. There is this risk. So we are
talking about control of chemical risk. It is said that
we should monitor the materials. The advice is not to
include this as a parameter in the water sample
examination.

CHAIRMAN: Then how do you know whether there is any
exceedance because you have many parameters and then the
threshold is not always zero?

A. This is always a matter of risk assessment.

CHAIRMAN: Won't you start with a water sample test, and if
it is not in exceedance then there is no need to control
the materials? I don't quite understand the logic.

A. If I may try to explain. According to the WHO criteria,
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they do deal with the risk of copper in drinking water.

CHAIRMAN: Why don't you tell me where I can get the
information about the WHO?

COMMISSIONER LAI: Where in the WHO Guidelines?

A. I may not be able to get the information off the cuff.

MR KHAW: I think there is one paragraph in the WHO which is
different.

CHAIRMAN: No, wait for him to get the WHO information.

I think I can claim myself to have read the WHO
guidelines.

A. Say, for example, I have something here, I don't know
whether it has already been admitted, "Chemical safety
of drinking water".

CHAIRMAN: Where can we find it?

A. I don't have the bundle number.

MR KHAW: C2.

CHAIRMAN: Page number, please?

MR KHAW: C19.1. I think it's 10589.

A. The last paragraph, 3.3.2:

"(In English) Unless there is strong evidence that
particular chemicals are currently found or will be
found in the near future, at levels that may compromise
the health of a significant proportion of the
population, the inclusion of those chemicals in

drinking-water monitoring programmes is not justified,
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particularly where resources are limited. It is often
more effective to maintain an ongoing programme of
pollution control and risk assessment in the catchment."

Somewhere it is mentioned that for chemical
contamination risk, we should as much as possible rely
on material control.

The same document, 10639. 8.1, the second-last
paragraph, the second sentence:

"(In English) It is important that water supply
agencies properly manage any chemicals that they use.
In many cases, the best method of control is through
management practices, such as optimisation of the
treatment process, and regulation of materials and
chemicals that come into contact with drinking water,
rather than through monitoring and chemical analysis."

CHAIRMAN: Well, I don't think it is quite relevant. This
is about water treatment and the use of chemicals.

A. Well, other than water treatment, we are also talking
about regulation of chemicals and materials.

CHAIRMAN: I'm sorry. Here, I don't think it is at all
relevant to what we are discussing. I think here it is
only talking about the use of chemicals in the process
of water treatment. Do you agree?

A. Distribution system, page 10642, 8.4, the last sentence:

"(In English) However, chemical monitoring of
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drinking water is not normally considered to be
appropriate and the most suitable method of management
is by product specification, as indicated above for
other materials."

Mr Chairman --

CHAIRMAN: Pause. Just a moment, please. If you just take
a sentence out of context, it would not be meaningful.
You need to read things in context.

Give me a moment, please. Let me digest what was
mentioned a moment ago, the very last sentence.

I think this is about the PVC, plastic pipes.

I think what is meant here is that in some cases, the
PVC molecules will remain in the pipes, " (In English)
However, chemical monitoring of drinking water is not
normally considered to be appropriate".

What is meant here is that for such pipes, under
such a scenario, testing for the chemical composition
would not be the normal method. I think this is about
this particular thing.

A. Sorry, Mr Chairman, I am no expert in this field, but my
understanding is that --

CHAIRMAN: It doesn't matter if you are not an expert in
this field. It doesn't matter. But since you have made
such a statement, I have to understand what you were

saying and how accurate it is, because you don't Jjust
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speak in your personal capacity; you are also giving
evidence on behalf of the WSD, so you had better
withdraw what you just said.

Now, for Housing Department, for Housing Authority,
I think they will make exception to what you are saying,
because they will say that you are telling us that we
should be at the frontline and you don't need to do
anything, even when there are heavy metals. I think
this is tantamount to what you are saying and they will
get such an impression and that's why I have to check
with you whether you would agree.

A. Let me say it from the other sort of angle. I mentioned
the World Health Organization standards, and it is
important. For the metal parameters, in the WHO
Guidelines, I think there are 60 or 70 of them.

CHAIRMAN: Yes, I can understand this point. Now, 1if it is
found that heavy metals are found to be of an excessive
level in the drinking water, be it lead or some other,

I think the WHO is saying that for this case, the first
thing to do is to exercise material control, so that the
materials will not continue to go into the water.

I think that's the primary barrier or the primary
preventive measure. Because if you constantly test for
the presence of lead in water, it is not a solution.

Just adopting a common-sense approach. I may be wrong.
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But it must be the case.

A. Well, if you know that the lead level is excessive, and
what we are now doing is to add lead as a parameter, and
then we have also done the same for other metals which
may pose a risk.

Maybe I haven't expressed myself clearly. When we
design a system, when you talk about water quality risk,
we have two kinds of risk: microbiological and chemical
risk. According to the WHO Guidelines and standards,
for microbiological risk we would rely on water sample
testing. But for chemical, the WHO would say we should
have material control.

CHAIRMAN: If you had said that, I would have understood you
perfectly well.

You cannot control bacteria and viruses in water
other than through taking water samples. What else can
you do?

MR KHAW: On the last point, if it's biological or
microbiological, you do water tests. For chemical risk,
you should do bacteria control.

A. Well, that's the first defence.

Q. But the WHO doesn't say that you can only do material
control and you should not do water sample testing.

A. I am afraid I cannot answer this question. For chemical

surveillance, the standard approach is bacterial
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control, but if you know that a metal is released into
drinking water -- for example, in view of what happened
in July 2015, we have now added lead as a parameter for
testing.

In other places, in the US and the UK, when it comes
to acceptance tests of new buildings, they do not take
water samples to check for exceedance of metal content.

Q. If we look at the WHO Guidelines, C2, page 1288. There
are two pages here, 66 and 67. On the left-hand side,
lower part, last paragraph, " (In English) Chemical water
quality":

"Sampling locations will depend on the water quality
characteristics being examined. Sampling at the
treatment plant or at the head of the distribution
system may be sufficient for constituents whose
concentrations do not change during delivery. However,
for those constituents whose concentrations can change
during distribution, sampling should be undertaken
following consideration of the behaviour or source of
the specific substance. Samples should include points
near the extremities of the distribution system and taps
connected directly to the mains in houses and large
multi-occupancy buildings. Lead, for example, should be
sampled at consumers' taps, as the source of lead is

usually service connections or plumbing in buildings."
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So it's clear here, for lead, you should sample at
consumer taps, not just at the waterworks or the
connection points. Do you agree with this
interpretation?

A. We have to look at the background to this paragraph. We
also take samples from taps, not just test for lead; we
also test for cadmium, chromium and nickel. So it 1is
not in any way contradictory to the current practice.

Q. You are now talking about chemicals, and now they have
highlighted lead in this paragraph. If you want to
assess the risk of lead, you should take samples from
consumers' taps. It seems to go against what you have
said.

A. If the risk of lead in water is high, or after
an incident, then in taking water samples you should add
lead as a parameter. We have had an incident, we have
added lead to the risk of parameters. According to
these WHO Guidelines, if you interpret this as requiring
taking samples from consumer taps, you are reading too
much into that. It doesn't mean that you must take
samples at consumers' taps for lead.

Q. All right. With regard to the concept of connection
point and the purpose behind this standard, according to
your colleague, Mr Lam -- C19.5, page 13486, Mr Lam

Ching Man, paragraph 41. Eight parameters are set out
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in paragraph 41.

Let's look at the middle part. Do you see,

"(In English) The purpose of the testing of water
samples" in the middle part?

"(In English) The purpose of the testing of water
samples near the connection point at this Jjuncture was
not for identifying the presence of non-compliant
materials in inside service as an end product test but
more to guard against contamination to the government
water supply by the inside service. Taking indirect
water supply system as an example, the water sample near
the connection point can only check the water quality
for the pipe between sump tank and the connection point
but not the entire inside service system (ie the
communal service and inside service after and including
the sump tank) ."

If you look at this plan, page 13487, you can see
the sump tank at the lower part. Can you see that? And
the connection point is indicated. So the test and
connection point can only cover, as explained in
paragraph 41, from the sump tank to the connection
point, a very small section here.

I just want to test if my understanding is correct.
The water sampling taken at the connection point is to

check the section from the sump tank to the connection
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point?

A. That's what it was like before 2012.

Q. Okay. Before 20127

A. Before 2012, we were concerned about the water supply
and whether the inside service would contaminate the
water supply. That's the main concern.

Q. All right. If we look at the witness statement, C19.5,
page 13792, paragraph 27. It refers to the witness
statement of Mr Lam. It says:

"(In English) ... the main purpose of the water
testing for samples collected near the connection points
is to prevent contamination of the government water
supply through backflow at the connection point whilst
that of the water testing at the inside service within
a building is to check the effectiveness of the
cleansing and disinfection of the inside service."

So you take water samples at the connection point,
and it's done to prevent backflow and contamination of
your water supply system. That's why you wanted to do
this, wanted them to do the test at the connection
point.

We have asked our experts some questions. There
must be some valve to prevent back flow in the system;
right?

A. Yes.
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Q.

So if you say checking for water quality at the
connection points is to prevent contamination, and we
know valves can prevent backflow.

I understand that. So what's your question?

Do you agree if we have valves to prevent backflow and
you only take the tests at the connection point, you
will not be able to find anything?

You are talking about valves to prevent backflow, but in
an ordinary system, there's no valve to prevent
backflow. My understanding is that there are valves to
prevent backflow, but for details you have to ask our

professional colleagues.

MR KHAW: Chairman, do we need to take a break?

CHAIRMAN: Ten minutes.

As things go, and since we are going to have
a holiday next week, and then we are going to have our
expert witnesses, it seems that we have to rush a bit.
So starting from tomorrow, let's start earlier, 9.30,
until 5 pm. So we are going to have one additional hour
every day. If we progress smoothly, after the holiday
we revert back to the old timetable. If progress is not
good, maybe we will have longer days.

Now let's take a ten-minute break.

(3.29 pm)

(A short adjournment)
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(3.41 pm)

MR KHAW: Mr Lam, before 2012, when we had the Legionnaires'
disease, you said that for the water samples, they were
taken up to the connection point, then you wouldn't be
interested in the inside service, as to whether it was
okay.

In 2012, there was the Legionella disease, but still
the advice was that for the inside service, water
samples could be taken, but it wasn't made mandatory.

A. Well, for the guidelines, as it has been sort of read
out a moment ago, we would like to remind the consumers
that the cleansing and maintenance of the inside service
was their responsibility. But then the WSD has this to
say. As to what should be done, even though they would
like to clean and maintain the inside service well, we
would like to give them clear guidance. This is because
usually they would cleanse and disinfect the inside
service -- maybe they would do it once or twice, but as
to the extent of the work and what would be regarded as
clean, at the time we gave guidelines.

Q. Yes, you produced guidelines. But after the Legionella
disease, despite that you didn't take a step further so
that the WSD would be taking water samples from the
inside service?

A. Post-2012, we didn't issue further guidelines to do
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that.
Q. I would like to ask a question about the eight

parameters. Please take a look at the relevant witness
statement, that is the witness statement from Mr Chan
Kin Man. C19.1, page 10502. Paragraph 10:

"(In English) Currently, WSD monitors the quality of
drinking water supply in the waterworks with reference
to the latest edition of Guidelines published in 2011."

It talks about 92 monitoring parameters.

From Mr Chan Kin Man's statement, please go to
annex 1, and you will find it at page 10527. Annex 1.
It's about the WHO Guidelines, and you can see "Metals",
the second item. There are 12 metals altogether, and
lead is included. So, when you have to do the treatment
in your waterworks, you have to check for these
12 metals; right?

(Nodded head) .

Do you know that for these 12 heavy metals, do you have
tests every day, or it's just random sample tests?
Well, here are metals. They are not necessarily heavy
metals. I don't think we do it regularly. I think it's
a sample test.

How regularly did you test?

I cannot give you an accurate answer.

You took water samples at connection points, and if I'm
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not mistaken, you didn't test for these 12 heavy metals,
unless under the Quality Water Supply Accreditation
Scheme you would cover iron?

A. The eight parameters do not include metals. They are
mainly about microbiological risk.

Q. I know the eight parameters have been put in place for
a long time, starting from early 2000. Have you checked
your department's record about the discussion of setting
out or going for the eight parameters?

A. I don't know. I don't know whether there's anything in
the files as regards why we chose the eight parameters.

Q. Were you involved in setting the eight parameters?

A. No, not personally.

Q. You have been saying that you mainly follow the WHO
Guidelines in setting your parameters.

Let's look at the WHO Guidelines in question. C2.
Let's look at C2, page 1251. On the right-hand side,
the right-hand column, the last-but-three bullet points:
"(In English) those key chemicals responsible for
large-scale health effects through drinking water
exposure "
And some examples are given: arsenic, fluoride,
lead, nitrate, selenium and uranium. And there are
a number of metals which may be responsible for

large-scale effects through drinking water.
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Page 1263. On the right-hand side, the first
paragraph, the middle paragraph of that paragraph:

"(In English) Plumbing materials, pipes, fittings
and coatings can result in elevated heavy metal (eg
lead) concentrations in drinking water, and
inappropriate materials can be conducive to bacterial
growth."

So it's lead-related.

Please look at the last point. Page 1349. The
first table, 8.16, " (In English) Contaminants from pipes
and fittings". There are six contaminants, including
lead. So, as far as WHO Guidelines go, and in
particular when it involves pipes and fittings and lead,
they have been given special mention. You say you have
been following the WHO Guidelines. Now, looking back,
in retrospect, did you look into the WHO Guidelines and
the reference in the guidelines to the risk posed by the
pipes and fittings containing lead?

A. Well, there are some paragraphs of the guidelines
talking about metal contaminations and some relevant
parameters. Well, we were aware of such standards
adopted by the WHO, so in our own waterworks we have
been taking sufficient number of water samples to ensure
compliance.

As for what's done within buildings, there are
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different stakeholders. According to the WHO, if you
want to find whether there is metal contamination at the
tap, then the first thing to do is not to take water
samples. As we have been seeing in the guidelines,
there are more than 80 metal-related parameters, so we
cannot check all those at the tap level. And we have
added three or four --

CHAIRMAN: Sorry, please speak up. I cannot hear you.

A. In the recent excessive lead incident, after that
incident we have added a number of parameters, and the
trade has expressed concern about that.

According to the WHO, metal contamination is a known
risk, but the best practice to deal with this is
material control. Otherwise, if you take samples for
testing, then you have to test for many parameters, and
a sample can only allow you to test for a number of
parameters. You have to take a lot of samples in order
to fully comply with the parameters mentioned in the WHO
Guidelines.

Q. We are not saying that every parameter must be tested.
If you look at page 1349, in respect of pipes and
fittings, there are only six contaminants, six metals.

Has the department considered that you should take
water samples for the purpose of testing for these six

parameters?
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A.

I don't think cadmium is here. Maybe we should
understand the full system, the system as a whole. When
we deal with water quality issues in accordance with WHO
Guidelines, we look at the guidelines, and the
guidelines are clear. If it's microbiological
contamination, you have to take water samples and test
for certain parameters. For chemical or metal
contamination, you go for material control. But if
there are some known incidents, some known risk has been
exposed, then you may wish to adopt a special approach.
If there's no special incident, no special situation,
then adding these contaminants in the parameters for
sample testing -- we can only do this after assessment.
There's a need to conduct a balancing exercise,
otherwise it may have an effect on waterworks.

According to Mr Chan Kin Man's statement, you make
reference to WHO Guidelines. For waterworks water
quality, you conduct a test for 12 metals, but beyond
the connection point, not even one will be tested.

Don't you think there is a big disconnect between the
two?

I may not be able to pinpoint the location, where we can
find this reference. There may be different water
suppliers, and if you supply water to a residential

unit, then you need to conduct follow-up tests for water
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quality control.

But within a building, as I have said, we are
talking about different stakeholders, different
buildings. So can we impose the same requirements on
the water supplier to all the stakeholders within the
building? We have to think carefully before doing that.
We can certainly also make reference to overseas
practice. We have to consider the availability of
resources, the impact on the trade, and works.

Q. Would you say that it was not good enough to cover none
of the eight parameters, back then?

A. It would be insufficient if there had been an incident
and no action was taken to tackle that.

CHAIRMAN: The reality is that you didn't conduct any risk
assessment?

A. Not gquantitative assessment of risk.

CHAIRMAN: No risk assessment whatsoever? Did you do any?

A. We didn't do any quantitative risk assessment.

CHAIRMAN: Have you done anything to confirm whether this is
a low, medium or high risk?

A. (Chinese spoken).

CHAIRMAN: Do you have any documents? Have you produced any
documents telling us that this is risk assessment --
there's no problem with lead. Historically, 1938, it

was banned. What about copper, did you do any study or
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assessment for copper?

A. I can't answer this question.

CHAIRMAN: According to the WHO Guidelines, it's one of the
contaminants.

A. I have asked our chemist colleagues. Copper is
a non-ferrous metal. It would add some colour to the
water, if found. So the WHO level is rather high.

CHAIRMAN: I understand that. Has there been any
assessment?

A. That's in a paper.

CHAIRMAN: Do you have any document to show us? We asked
you if any assessment was done. Of course, you say yes.
In the 1980s, copper pipes were introduced to Hong Kong,
and the HA did the same. Copper pipes were commonly
used since 2000 by the HA, or 2002. The biggest
developer, the biggest construction company, the Housing
Authority decided to use copper pipes.

From the evidence we have heard, the Housing
Authority said they knew nothing about these things.
They had to rely on you.

So the question is what did you do? What have you
done?

A. I think I need to defer it to our chemist. When you
come to such details as to whether such assessments have

been carried out, I don't know.
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CHAIRMAN: I also know that for copper and iron, that would
cause discoloration. They have also told me that the
pH value in Hong Kong is 8.2 to 8.8, so the leaching of
copper would be less likely. Had they been right, in
theory, lead solder would not have released lead into
the water.

So even in the case of lead pipes --

A. I can't answer you. You have to ask --

CHAIRMAN: Well, if you want to raise the pH value to
8-point-something so as to prevent corrosion, so as to
prevent leaching of heavy metals --

A. Well, in theory, the problem will not be with us.

I think it will be reduced.

CHAIRMAN: I think in theory there will be no problem.

I want to put this question to you. It seems your
evidence is you are quite content, that is you are
content with whatever is up to the connection point and
that's it; beyond that, it's none of your business.
Have you ever taken a step further?

A. Well, after the connection point, we believe that we
have already taken a few steps. Say, for example, in
the year 2002, we had the quality water in buildings, so
as to encourage the property management companies to
regularly cleanse and maintain their water tanks.

I have read the literature. At that time, there were
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problems with the quality of drinking water in the
inside service. It was all because of lack of cleansing
of the water tanks, and later on we had come up with
version 2.0 for the Quality Water Supply Scheme for
Buildings, and we have also carried out investigation
into complaints by the citizens and where necessary, we
have issued circulars and asked the consumers to
maintain and cleanse their inside service.

CHAIRMAN: But then this is just advice. You are giving
advice or good practices; right?

A. When we find there is a problem with water quality, then
it would be more than advice. We can enforce the law.
We have the power.

CHAIRMAN: But of course you have to count on that person to
tell you there is a problem and then you will act on it.

A. We also monitor. We have 16,000 sets of water samples
from the taps.

CHAIRMAN: My understanding is that the so-called water
samples from the inside service -- my understanding is
that you don't actually go to the households to get the
water samples and saying, on many occasions, it's just
from the shopping malls. In any event, you won't be so
intrusive as to go to their households?

A. We went to the property management office. We did

encounter difficulties going into the households.
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CHAIRMAN: I was asking whether you would take a step
further and do more than just giving advice. Why can't
you go one step further and try to get the water samples
from the household taps so as to ensure it is safe.

A. We need the powers.

CHAIRMAN: Yes, I know. Of course I know you have to be
empowered, because people will deny you entry.

For the WSD, your number one objective, what is it?
As the director of Water Supplies, what do you think is
the objective of having the WSD within the government
structure? What is the most important one?

A. We need to have a sustainable source of drinking water
and we must assure the quality of drinking water.

CHAIRMAN: Exactly. So your purpose is to provide safe
drinking water to the citizens of Hong Kong so they can
continue to live here. I think that is your number 1
priority.

A. This is what we strive to achieve, but it depends on the
circumstances.

CHAIRMAN: On the face of it, having heard what you said, in
fact your comfort zone stops at the connection point.
For you to step beyond your comfort zone, for you to
step beyond the connection point, it seems you feel
a great sense of unease.

A. Perhaps what we can do is to adopt a multipronged

- 105 -

Transcript by DTI Corporation Asia, Limited



Annex: Realtime English Transcription based on floor / Simultaneous Interpretation

Commission of Inquiry into
Excess Lead Found in Drinking Water Day 49

approach. We can encourage the consumers. In fact, we
have a lot of publicity and educational talks. At law,
they have the duty to clean and maintain their own
inside service.

If the duty shifts back to the Water Supplies
Department, that would mean a change in the law. 1In
overseas countries, they have also included the water
quality standards in their laws and that would also
cover the inside service. But if you read their
documents, there's no way they can ensure that the water
from the tap can be 100 per cent in compliance with the
WHO Guidelines.

In future, even when we have the opportunity to
review the law, we have to be aware of the constraints.
In the UK, they have got the water quality standards,
but when the water sample is found to be not in
compliance with WHO Guidelines, they can only give
advice.

It's when water is supplied to the public, then they
can enforce the law more vigorously. I think this is
a topic that we have to consider. 1In future, if we say
that the government should bear the responsibility of
assuring the quality of water all the way up to the
water tap, of course we can consider a safe drinking

water regulation but there are many implications, in
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particular older buildings.

MR KHAW: You have said that if you want to go to a
household to get water samples, there will be a certain
degree of inconvenience, it will be intrusive, and you
may not have the powers to do so.

Have you ever considered the following: at the time
of completion of a building, before the intake of
population, can the WSD go to individual units to get
water samples?

A. Two points here. Before we can provide water supply, we
take water samples. But our experience is after water
has been supplied, whether the inside service is
properly cleaned and maintained, that is crucial, in
particular in relation to bacteriological or
microbiological examination.

Q. Let me refer you to Y1, page 33. Again, this is ACQWS.
In the year 2001, that is 15 years ago, there was this
discussion.

Let's turn to page 34, point 6.5.1:

"(In English) In response to enquiries on
Singapore's practice, WSD informed members that the
building management was required to engage water
analysts to take samples regularly in a prescribed way
from the tap and from the water tank, and to submit

periodic checking reports to ensure proper water
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quality.

WSD undertook to gather more information on the
practices adopted by Singapore and other Asian cities
for members' reference and for formulating the detailed
specification of the submissions such as frequency and
parameters for testing."

At that time, we looked at the Asian examples, and
your department told the members, saying that it would
be up to the building owners or occupants to provide
samples to you regularly, and samples would come from
the taps and the water tanks.

I would like to know whether you have searched for
any follow-up work on this point?

A. Well, you talked about the minutes of paper No. 7.
Please go to paper No. 8. I think there was a survey
covering Shenzhen, Taipei, Singapore and Kuala Lumpur.
I think we need to see whether there was any detailed
discussion.

Q. 6.5.5. Here it says:

"(Partially in English) A member [at that time]
expressed great concern on the proposal to include
chemical and bacteriological analyses as statutory
requirements. There might not be enough accredited
laboratories to do the required tests and the tests

might be very expensive. He suggested that WSD should
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look for the minimum requirements. Members agreed."

It seems that there was this advice, at one stage,
to cover chemical and bacteriological analysis and have
it included as a statutory requirement.

I want to know whether, and if so, at what stage
there was such a suggestion.

A. According to the minutes here, that was the case, but of
course I can only deduce it from this document. It was
about legislating for it. Now, it was said that perhaps
there should be stringent chemical analysis, as well as
bacteriological analysis, of water from the taps of the
consumers. But we have to change the law and there will
be a claim on the resources.

In other words, according to the suggestion,
consumers' water and water taps would have to undergo
such tests. But then we have to consider whether we
should take such a step, whether we should take such
an additional step, to assure water safety. I think it
involves a lot of resources, far more than just the
laboratory.

Q. If I may discuss with you about the UK standards.

I think the chairman had a discussion with you this
morning. Let's go to GIl.

Gl, page 304, point 17, schedule 2, part 1. That's

about the specifications for the pipes and fittings.
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Point 17:

"(In English) Capillary fittings or compression
fittings shall comply with BS 864 ..."

BS 864 was the British Standard issued in 1983.

"(In English) ... part 2 for capillary and
compression fittings of copper and copper alloy and
compression fittings for pipes laid under the ground
shall be type B."

This morning, the chairman asked you that in this
piece of legislation, it was not amended in line with
the change to the British Standards. You gave an answer
this morning.

A. Because we have another provision saying that we should
follow the latest British Standard.

Q. We know that over the years, British Standards would be
amended and updated and improved. But will the WSD
issue some documents, circulars, letters, whatever, to
tell the stakeholders that "Now the British Standards
have been changed, please pay attention?" Do you have
such a practice in the department?

A. If a British Standard is rather important, we would
inform the public through our website. Even if the
British Standard has been updated, we may or may not
follow suit immediately; that would also have to look at

the capacity of the trade. For example, we have to look
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if the latest parameter is something that our
laboratories can handle in the test.

So the question is should we change as soon as the
British Standard is updated? Well, we will talk to the
trade first.

CHAIRMAN: I don't gquite understand that answer. Could you
please repeat that?

A. When the British Standard is changed, we will not
necessarily make a similar change right away. We will
look at the implication for the trade first, and also
whether our laboratories are equipped with the necessary
capacity to do the tests. So we will deal with the new
standard, British Standard, after talking to the trade.

CHAIRMAN: So there are chances that some older version of
BS would continue to be applied in Hong Kong, so it will
not be in line with the law, because according to the
law, the regulations, you want people to comply with the
latest British Standards, and sometimes you will just go
for the older version. So what should people do?

A. In some cases, the Water Authority can have some leeway
with regard to the compliance with the latest British
Standards.

CHAIRMAN: If I read the regulation today, can I really know
whether BS 864 is applicable in Hong Kong now?

A. You have to go to our website because there are a lot of
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changes in regard to many materials.

CHAIRMAN: I know, but in the regulations, there are not
many specified materials, so why don't you change these
regulations?

A. So we have a flexible approach. When materials are the
subject of change, we would issue notices.

CHAIRMAN: Director, let's see if my understanding is
correct. You are saying that regulation 17 here is the
updated one?

A. I can't say that. Regulation 17 sets out that it's
BS 864. But according to regulation 2, we have to use
the latest BS.

CHAIRMAN: But have you issued -- not you —-- has the WSD has
issued any notice that BS 864 is no longer current and
it should be BS 12547

A. I have to check whether we have issued such a notice.

CHAIRMAN: Plumbers may know, but let's see. If I am
a law-abiding citizen and I read up the regulations,
what can be done?

A. We would provide updates on our website, and in the past
we rely on communication with the trade. I have to
check if there was any notice issued to that effect.

CHAIRMAN: So you know what I am asking? Your notices carry
no legal effect, but if you change the regulations,

there will be legal effect.
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A. If the requirements are not really changed, because
according to regulation 2, you have to use the latest
BS.

CHAIRMAN: But no one knows. There are exceptions. We just
learned that you have to see whether the lab can catch
up, whether you have the resources, before you adopt the
new standards.

So simply, instead of 864, it's 1254. So which
should apply?

A. The trade knows the requirements.

CHAIRMAN: You can't say that. What if I'm not in the
trade?

A. I cannot really tell you whether the trade was informed
through a notice or through other means.

CHAIRMAN: There's too much flexibility here or you have too
wide a discretion. The executive is given too wide
a discretionary power. Simply you can do whatever you
want.

A. We will inform the trade of the latest requirements, the
stakeholders and other people who need to have access to
such information. So it's done through the website.

MR KHAW: But this approach involving your website was
adopted after the 2015 lead in water incident. So we
are now having a piece of legislation saying that as

a director, you can do whatever you can; you have every
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discretionary power you want.

CHAIRMAN: There will always be consultation. People have

been talking about how important the rule of law is, so
we must have some powers as defined in the law. We
cannot have a piece of legislation saying that the
director enjoys full discretionary power and can just
make announcements on the website.

But if there's no discretionary power for the Water
Authority, and if the BS is updated, we have to go for
the new one, and then we need time to have legislative

amendments.

CHAIRMAN: I'm not saying it should take immediate effect.

You can have a later commencement date.

But it's up to the legislature. There will be

a time-lag. According to the regulations, according to
the law, you have to use the latest BS. 1In the past,
there will be some discussion with the trade before

adoption.

CHAIRMAN: Well, I don't know. I'm quite familiar with,

A.

say, drugs. Today, this drug is in schedule 1; tomorrow
it's in part 1, and then there's another one in part 2.
A few months, and you have another change. I just don't
see how come it's so difficult. It's all about amending
the regulations.

I'm not familiar with drugs.
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CHAIRMAN: There are always changes about new drugs.

A. The problem is that even with new standards, we have to
assess the actual situation to see if we have to adopt
it.

CHAIRMAN: You see the contradiction here. A new drug is
a new drug, but in your definition, in your regulation,
you want to have the latest British Standard, but not in
reality. You are not doing this in implementation.

A. There's a mechanism. We had to have a discussion on
whether, for new materials, we need to go for the latest
standard. Of course, there's room for improvement, and
we hope that in the future we can provide for this in
the amended regulations.

MR KHAW: Apart from law, let's look at WwO46. It's a form
of the WSD. B1l5.1, page 37621.

We have looked at this form many times. Part I, the
second part -- the licensed plumber and the architect
both have to declare that the materials are in
conformity with the WW regulations.

Please now look at page 37627. On the left-hand
side, there's a table. 1It's the 2012 version.

Paragraph 7 -- pipes, fittings, valves and other
parts, and the relevant British Standards, combination
fittings included.

One criticism is that even for your WSD form, only
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three were current at the time. Others were all
outdated. Do you know that?

A. I have read that report.

Q. So there's no dispute that the majority of BS, in the
form, referred to in the form, were outdated at that
time?

A. For those outdated, yes, we looked into the
implications. Most of them were seldom used or rarely
used pipes.

For major fittings, for the past 20 years, the
changes to the BS had very little impact on water
quality.

Q. Let's not look at the impact. For this form, the
licensed plumber has to sign on it, to certify that the
pipes and fittings are in conformity with the relevant
BS. What do you expect from the licensed plumbers, as
for the current BS that will be applied?

A. As I've said, there's a mechanism in respect of outdated
BS between WSD and the trade, but there will be
occasions and opportunities for the relevant standards
to be communicated to the trade. I agree that this
might not be the best practice. So in the new form, we
have already made all the amendments. I have heard from
the chairman -- at present, we give information through

our website; there may be a need to make improvements
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and that may mean changing the law.

MR KHAW: When our lawyers wanted to get the relevant BS, we

A.

were asked to pay a few thousand dollars for each BS.
So did the WSD expect the licensed plumbers to get the
BS?
They can get information from the laboratories. Some
fittings had to be approved by the WSD, and this is
limited to a small number of pipes and fittings. They
can tell the labs that for certain brands of fittings,
accreditation would be required, and the lab would be
doing the tests and produce the test report for them.
We also communicated with the labs with regard to
our requirements. That was what we did in the past, and
now we have improved the arrangement.
So you agree that you did not update the relevant BS in
a timely manner.

We have changed them in the new form now.

MR KHAW: Next I would like to ask about the licensed

plumbers. I would hike to talk about the evolution of
their training over the decades.

It's now 4.30.

CHAIRMAN: So 9.30 tomorrow morning.

MR KHAW: Yes, 9.30 tomorrow.

CHATIRMAN: How much longer?

MR KHAW: About an hour.
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CHAIRMAN: How about the other lawyers? Mr Lee and Mr Ho,
I think you have questions. Who else would like to ask
questions? No? All right.

MR LEE: I will have quite a lot.

CHAIRMAN: Okay. Fine. It doesn't matter. I am just
thinking about the time needed.

9.30 tomorrow morning.

(4.31 pm)

(The hearing adjourned until 9.30 am on the following day)
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